






























































































8/26/2019

Principal Amount: 4,501,000       Day-count Method 30/360 0.0041096%

Interest Rate: 1.50% Computed Payment Amount $139,943.27 Denomination 100$                   

Dated Date: 9/30/2019 Prin. Pmts/Yr 2                         

Issue Date: 9/30/2019 67515 Total Prin.Pmts 39                       

First Interest Payment Date 7/1/2020 Accrued Interest 0

First Principal Payment Date 1/1/2022 Bond Years 12,606.010     

Last Payment 1/1/2041 Admin Fee 0.50%

Payment 

Date

Payment 

Number  Interest  Principal Total P & I

Annual 

Payment

Principal 

Balance Admin Fee

 Total P&I + 

Admin Fee Annual Outlay

9/30/19 -                   4,501,000.00      -                   

1/1/20 -                   4,501,000.00      -                   

7/1/20 50,823.79       50,823.79         4,501,000.00      50,823.79         

1/1/21 33,757.50       35 33,757.50         84,581.29       4,501,000.00      33,757.50         84,581.29         

7/1/21 33,757.50       33,757.50         4,501,000.00      33,757.50         

1/1/22 1 33,757.50       36 95,000.00                           128,757.50       162,515.00     4,406,000.00      11,252.50           140,010.00       173,767.50       

7/1/22 2 33,045.00       96,000.00                           129,045.00       4,310,000.00      11,015.00           140,060.00       

1/1/23 3 32,325.00       37 97,000.00                           129,325.00       258,370.00     4,213,000.00      10,775.00           140,100.00       280,160.00       

7/1/23 4 31,597.50       98,000.00                           129,597.50       4,115,000.00      10,532.50           140,130.00       

1/1/24 5 30,862.50       37 99,000.00                           129,862.50       259,460.00     4,016,000.00      10,287.50           140,150.00       280,280.00       

7/1/24 6 30,120.00       100,000.00                         130,120.00       3,916,000.00      10,040.00           140,160.00       

1/1/25 7 29,370.00       38 101,000.00                         130,370.00       260,490.00     3,815,000.00      9,790.00             140,160.00       280,320.00       

7/1/25 8 28,612.50       102,000.00                         130,612.50       3,713,000.00      9,537.50             140,150.00       

1/1/26 9 27,847.50       38 103,000.00                         130,847.50       261,460.00     3,610,000.00      9,282.50             140,130.00       280,280.00       

7/1/26 10 27,075.00       104,000.00                         131,075.00       3,506,000.00      9,025.00             140,100.00       

1/1/27 11 26,295.00       39 105,000.00                         131,295.00       262,370.00     3,401,000.00      8,765.00             140,060.00       280,160.00       

7/1/27 12 25,507.50       106,000.00                         131,507.50       3,295,000.00      8,502.50             140,010.00       

1/1/28 13 24,712.50       40 107,000.00                         131,712.50       263,220.00     3,188,000.00      8,237.50             139,950.00       279,960.00       

7/1/28 14 23,910.00       108,000.00                         131,910.00       3,080,000.00      7,970.00             139,880.00       

1/1/29 15 23,100.00       40 109,000.00                         132,100.00       264,010.00     2,971,000.00      7,700.00             139,800.00       279,680.00       

7/1/29 16 22,282.50       110,000.00                         132,282.50       2,861,000.00      7,427.50             139,710.00       

1/1/30 17 21,457.50       40 111,000.00                         132,457.50       264,740.00     2,750,000.00      7,152.50             139,610.00       279,320.00       

7/1/30 18 20,625.00       112,000.00                         132,625.00       2,638,000.00      6,875.00             139,500.00       

1/1/31 19 19,785.00       42 114,000.00                         133,785.00       266,410.00     2,524,000.00      6,595.00             140,380.00       279,880.00       

7/1/31 20 18,930.00       115,000.00                         133,930.00       2,409,000.00      6,310.00             140,240.00       

1/1/32 21 18,067.50       42 116,000.00                         134,067.50       267,997.50     2,293,000.00      6,022.50             140,090.00       280,330.00       

7/1/32 22 17,197.50       117,000.00                         134,197.50       2,176,000.00      5,732.50             139,930.00       

1/1/33 23 16,320.00       43 118,000.00                         134,320.00       268,517.50     2,058,000.00      5,440.00             139,760.00       279,690.00       

7/1/33 24 15,435.00       119,000.00                         134,435.00       1,939,000.00      5,145.00             139,580.00       

1/1/34 25 14,542.50       44 121,000.00                         135,542.50       269,977.50     1,818,000.00      4,847.50             140,390.00       279,970.00       

7/1/34 26 13,635.00       122,000.00                         135,635.00       1,696,000.00      4,545.00             140,180.00       

1/1/35 27 12,720.00       44 123,000.00                         135,720.00       271,355.00     1,573,000.00      4,240.00             139,960.00       280,140.00       

7/1/35 28 11,797.50       124,000.00                         135,797.50       1,449,000.00      3,932.50             139,730.00       

1/1/36 29 10,867.50       45 125,000.00                         135,867.50       271,665.00     1,324,000.00      3,622.50             139,490.00       279,220.00       

7/1/36 30 9,930.00         127,000.00                         136,930.00       1,197,000.00      3,310.00             140,240.00       

1/1/37 31 8,977.50         46 128,000.00                         136,977.50       273,907.50     1,069,000.00      2,992.50             139,970.00       280,210.00       

7/1/37 32 8,017.50         129,000.00                         137,017.50       940,000.00         2,672.50             139,690.00       

1/1/38 33 7,050.00         46 131,000.00                         138,050.00       275,067.50     809,000.00         2,350.00             140,400.00       280,090.00       

7/1/38 34 6,067.50         132,000.00                         138,067.50       677,000.00         2,022.50             140,090.00       

1/1/39 35 5,077.50         133,000.00                         138,077.50       276,145.00     544,000.00         1,692.50             139,770.00       279,860.00       

7/1/39 36 4,080.00         135,000.00                         139,080.00       409,000.00         1,360.00             140,440.00       

1/1/40 37 3,067.50         136,000.00                         139,067.50       278,147.50     273,000.00         1,022.50             140,090.00       280,530.00       

7/1/40 38 2,047.50         137,000.00                         139,047.50       136,000.00         682.50                139,730.00       

1/1/41 39 1,020.00         136,000.00                         137,020.00       276,067.50     -                      340.00                137,360.00       277,090.00       

835,473.79     # 4,501,000.00                      5,336,473.79    239,045.00         5,575,518.79    5,575,518.79    

Loan Amount 4,501,000.00$                    281,586.54       

23,465.54         Monthly payment

Loan Statistics

Average annual payment

DRAFT-Direct Loan Amortization (Level Debt) City of Carthage, C295809-01
Based on an estimated interest rate of 1.50%



GILMORE & BELL, P.C. 

DRAFT – AUGUST 31, 2019 

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

 

 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE 

 

 

OF  

 

 

NOT TO EXCEED $4,501,000 

 

 

CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

 

COMBINED WATERWORKS AND SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS 

(STATE OF MISSOURI – DIRECT LOAN PROGRAM) 

SERIES 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Legal Opinion: 

 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 

Kansas City, Missouri 

 

 

 



NOT TO EXCEED $4,501,000 

 

CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

COMBINED WATERWORKS AND SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS 

(STATE OF MISSOURI – DIRECT LOAN PROGRAM) 

SERIES 2019 

 

 

CLOSING: [**CLOSING DATE**] 

 

_______________ 

 

CLOSING LIST 

_______________ 

 

 

 

Document 

No. 

 

 

1. Bond Ordinance. 

  

2. Purchase Agreement. 

  

3. Escrow Trust Agreement. 

  

4. Specimen Bond. 

 

5. A.  Minutes of May 13, 2014 Meeting of the City Council showing adoption of an 

ordinance calling a special bond election. 

B.  Certificate Regarding Notice of Meeting. 

C.  Agenda of Meeting. 

 

6. Ordinance calling a special bond election. 

 

7. Election Authority’s Certificate, with the following exhibits attached: 

 

A.  Official Ballot. 

B.  Abstract of Votes. 

C.  Affidavit of Publication. 

 

8. A. Minutes of September 9, 2014 Meeting of the City Council showing adoption of an 

ordinance declaring the results of the special bond election. 

B.  Certificate Regarding Notice of Meeting. 

C.  Agenda of Meeting. 

  

9. Ordinance declaring the results of the special bond election. 

 



Document 

No. 

 

 

10. A. Excerpt of Minutes of September 24, 2019 Meeting of the City Council showing 

adoption of the Bond Ordinance. 

B.  Certificate Regarding Notice of Meeting. 

C.  Agenda of Meeting. 

  

11. City’s Closing Certificate, with the following item(s) attached: 

 

 Schedule 1. Application of Administrative Expense Fund Closing Deposit. 

 

12. Paying Agent’s Closing Certificate. 

 

13. Receipt for Bonds and Closing Certificate of DNR. 

 

14. Pro Forma Debt Service Schedule. 

 

15. Opinion of Bond Counsel. 

 

 

 

*  *  *  *



CITY’S CLOSING CERTIFICATE 

 

 

Not to Exceed $4,501,000 

City of Carthage, Missouri 

Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds 

(State of Missouri – Direct Loan Program) 

Series 2019 
 

We, the undersigned, are the duly qualified and authorized officials of the City of Carthage, 

Missouri (the “City”), and we hereby certify in connection with the issuance of the above-described bonds 

(the “Bonds”) as follows:  

 

1. Meaning of Words and Terms.  Capitalized words and terms used in this Certificate, 

unless otherwise defined in this Certificate or the context requires otherwise, have the same meanings 

ascribed to such words and terms in the ordinance authorizing the Bonds adopted by the governing body of 

the City (the “Ordinance”). 

 

2. Organization and Authority.  The City is a constitutional home rule city organized and 

existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of Missouri.  The City has complied with all provisions 

of the Constitution and the laws of the State of Missouri, and has full power and authority to consummate 

all transactions contemplated by the Ordinance and any and all other agreements relating thereto. 

 

3. The Ordinance; Transcript of Proceedings.  The Ordinance has not been modified, 

amended or repealed and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  The transcript of proceedings (the 

“Transcript”) relating to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds furnished to the Missouri Department 

of Natural Resources (“DNR”), as the purchaser of the Bonds, is to the best of our knowledge, information 

and belief full, correct and complete; none of such proceedings have been modified, amended or repealed; 

and the facts as are stated in the Transcript still exist.  

 

4. Meetings.  All meetings of the governing body of the City as shown in the Transcript were 

called and held as shown in the Transcript.  All such meetings were open to the public and a quorum was 

present and acted throughout, and proper notice of all such meetings was given in the manner required by 

law, including Chapter 610 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended. 

 

5. Incumbency of Officers.  The following named persons were the duly qualified and acting 

officials of the City at all times during which such persons participated in the proceedings authorizing the 

Bonds as shown in the Transcript: 

 

2014 ELECTION CURRENT 

  

Name Title Name Title 

J. Michael Harris Mayor Dan Rife Mayor 

Kirby Newport Councilmember Juan Topete Councilmember 

Jim Swatsenbarg Councilmember James Harrison Councilmember 

Larry Quinn Chapin Councilmember David Armstrong Councilmember 

Paul H. McCoy Councilmember Mike Daugherty Councilmember 

Brady Beckham Councilmember Ceri Otero Councilmember 

Steve Leibbrand Councilmember Alan Snow Councilmember 

Dan Rife Councilmember Darren Collier Councilmember 



 

 

 -2- 

2014 ELECTION CURRENT 

  

Name Title Name Title 

Lee Carlson Councilmember Kirby Newport Councilmember 

Jason Shelfer Councilmember Ed Barlow Councilmember 

Ed Hardesty Councilmember Raymond West Councilmember 

Tom Short City Administrator Tom Short City Administrator 

Lynn Campbell City Clerk Traci Cox City Clerk 

 

6. Execution of Bonds.  The Bonds in the maximum principal amount of $4,501,000, 

consisting of one fully-registered bond in the denomination of $100 or any integral multiple of $0.01 in 

excess thereof, have been duly signed and executed by the manual signatures of the Mayor and the City 

Clerk as the duly qualified, constituted and authorized officials of the City.  On the date of the Bonds, and 

on the date when the Bonds were executed, such officials were and at the date hereof are the officials 

indicated by their signatures on the Bonds and on this Certificate, respectively.  The signatures of such 

officials on the Bonds are their true and genuine signatures, and the seal affixed or imprinted on the Bonds 

was and is the duly authorized seal of the City and was affixed on the Bonds by the authority and direction 

of the governing body of the City, and is the seal affixed to this Certificate. 

 

7. Outstanding Revenue Obligations.  As of the date hereof, the City does not have 

outstanding any bonds or other obligations payable out of the Net Revenues derived from the operation of 

the System other than the Bonds and, subject to annual appropriation, the City’s Refunding Certificates of 

Participation (Carthage, Missouri Water & Electric Plant), Series 2012 and the City’s Certificates of 

Participation, Series 2015. No event has occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of time or the 

giving of notice, would constitute a breach of or an event of default under the Ordinance.  

 

8. Sale of Bonds.  The Bonds have been sold on a negotiated basis at a rate not exceeding 

10% per annum, and at a price of 100% of the par value thereof, in compliance with the requirements of 

Section 108.170 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended.  

 

9. Execution of Documents.  The following documents (the “City Documents”) have been 

executed and delivered in the name and on behalf of the City by its duly authorized officers, pursuant to 

and in full compliance with the Ordinance; the copies of the City Documents contained in the Transcript 

are true, complete and correct copies or counterparts of the City Documents as executed and delivered by 

the City and are in substantially the same form and text as the copies of the City Documents that were 

before the governing body of the City and approved by the Ordinance; and the City Documents have not 

been amended, modified or rescinded and are in full force and effect as of the date hereof: 

 

(a) Purchase Agreement dated as of September 1, 2019 (the “Purchase Agreement”), 

between the City and the Missouri Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”). 

 

(b) Escrow Trust Agreement dated as of September 1, 2019 (the “Escrow 

Agreement”), between UMB Bank, N.A., as Paying Agent (the “Paying Agent”) under the 

Ordinance, and the City. 

 

10. Representations and Warranties Required by the Purchase Agreement.  The City has 

duly performed all of its obligations required to be performed at or prior to the date of this Closing 

Certificate by the Purchase Agreement and each of the City’s representations and warranties contained in 

the Purchase Agreement are true as of the date hereof. 

 



 

 

 -3- 

11. No Litigation.  There is no litigation, suit or other proceeding of any kind pending, or to 

our knowledge, after due investigation, threatened, (a) that is seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance or 

delivery of the Bonds; (b) that is contesting, disputing or affecting in any way (1) the legal organization of 

the City or its boundaries, (2) the right or title of any of its officers to their respective offices, (3) the legality 

of any of its official acts shown to have been done in the Transcript, (4) the constitutionality or validity of 

the Bonds or the obligations represented by the Bonds, or any of the proceedings had in relation to the 

authorization, issuance or sale thereof, (5) the legality, validity or enforceability of the Ordinance or the 

City Documents, or (6) the imposition and collection of rates, fees or charges to pay the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds; or (c) that could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or operations 

of the City or its ability to make payments on the Bonds or to perform its agreements and obligations under 

the Ordinance or any of the City Documents. 

 

12. Request to Authenticate and Deliver Bonds.  The Paying Agent is hereby requested and 

authorized pursuant to the Ordinance, to authenticate the Bonds in the maximum principal amount of 

$4,501,000 in authorized denominations under the Ordinance and registered in such names as shall be 

specified by DNR, and to deliver the Bonds to DNR upon payment for the account of the City of the initial 

Purchase Price Installment for the Bonds. 

 

13. Receipt for Purchase Price; Initial Deposits. 

 

(a) The City received on the date hereof from DNR the initial Purchase Price Installment of 

the Bonds in the amount of $72,506.00. 

 

(b) The Paying Agent is authorized and directed to deposit and apply such sum into the Funds 

established under the Escrow Agreement as follows: 

 

(i) $72,506.00 into the Administrative Expense Fund (for application as set forth in 

the attached Schedule 1); and  

 

(ii) $0.00, the balance of the initial Purchase Price Installment, into the Construction 

Fund. 

 

14.       M.A.P. Filing Authorization.  The City hereby authorizes Gilmore & Bell, P.C., to file the 

information required by Section 37.850 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended, on the Missouri 

Accountability Portal website maintained by the State of Missouri Office of Administration. 

 

 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

 

 S-1 

DATED:  _____________________, 2019. 

 

 

 Signature Official Title 
 

 

 ______________________________ Mayor 

 

 

 

(SEAL) ______________________________ City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[Carthage - Closing Certificate]



 

Schedule 1-1 

SCHEDULE 1 TO CITY’S CLOSING CERTIFICATE 

 

APPLICATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE FUND CLOSING DEPOSIT 

 

 

Description Payee Amount 

   

Master Trust Bonds Expense DNR (per Escrow Agreement) $27,006.00 

Financial Advisor Springsted Incorporated 18,000.00 

Local Bond Counsel Fee and Exp. Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 19,000.00 

DNR Program Counsel Fee and Exp. Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 7,500.00 

Paying Agent Acceptance Fee UMB Bank, N.A.    1,000.00 

 

Total 

  

$72,506.00 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[**CLOSING DATE**] 

 

 

Mayor and City Council 

City of Carthage, Missouri 

 

Missouri Department of Natural Resources 

Jefferson City, Missouri 

 

Re: Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds (State of Missouri – Direct 

Loan Program) Series 2019 of the City of Carthage, Missouri 

 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 

 We have acted as bond counsel to the City of Carthage, Missouri (the “City”), in connection with 

the issuance of the above-captioned bonds in the maximum principal amount of $4,501,000 (the “Bonds”).  

In this capacity, we have examined the law and the certified proceedings, certifications and other documents 

that we deem necessary to render this opinion. 

 

 The Bonds are issued pursuant to an Ordinance adopted by the governing body of the City (the 

“Ordinance”). Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this opinion have the meanings assigned 

to those terms in the Ordinance. 

 

 Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied on the certified proceedings 

and other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify them by 

independent investigation. 

 

 Based on and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows: 

 

 1. The City is validly existing as a political subdivision of the State of Missouri (the “State”) 

with the power to adopt the Ordinance, perform the agreements on its part contained therein, and issue the 

Bonds. 

 

 2. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the City and are valid 

and legally binding special obligations of the City. 

 

 3. The Bonds are payable solely from the Net Revenues of the System.  The Bonds do not 

constitute general obligations of the City and do not constitute an indebtedness of the City within the 

meaning of any constitutional, statutory or charter provision, limitation or restriction.  The taxing power of 

the City is not pledged to the payment of the Bonds. 

 

 4. The Ordinance has been duly adopted by the governing body of the City and constitutes a 

valid and legally binding obligation of the City enforceable against the City.  The Ordinance creates a valid 

lien on the Net Revenues pledged by the Ordinance for the security of the Bonds on a parity with other 



[**CLOSING DATE**] 

Page 2 

 

 

 

bonds, if any, issued or to be issued as Parity Bonds under the Ordinance. The Bonds are issued on parity 

with the Outstanding Parity Bonds. 

 

 5. The Purchase Agreement and the Escrow Agreement have been duly authorized, executed 

and delivered by the City and are valid and legally binding agreements of the City, enforceable against the 

City in accordance with their respective terms. 

 

We express no opinion regarding the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of any offering material 

relating to the Bonds.  Further, we express no opinion regarding the perfection or priority of the lien on the 

Net Revenues pledged under the Ordinance or tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds other 

than as expressly set forth in this opinion. 

 

 The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds, the Ordinance, the 

Purchase Agreement and the Escrow Agreement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 

moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by equitable principles, whether 

considered at law or in equity. 

 

 This opinion is given as of its date, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this 

opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may come to our attention or any changes in law that may 

occur after the date of this opinion. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

RECEIPT FOR BONDS AND CLOSING CERTIFICATE 

 

City of Carthage, Missouri 

Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds 

(State of Missouri – Direct Loan Program) 

Series 2019 
 

 I, the undersigned, hereby certify that I am a duly appointed and authorized officer of the Missouri 

Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”), and as such I am familiar with the books and records of DNR.  In 

connection with the purchase by DNR of the above-referenced bonds (the “Bonds”) of the City of Carthage, 

Missouri (the “City”) pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) between the City 

and DNR, I hereby further certify, as of the Closing Date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement), as follows: 

 

1. Receipt for Bonds.  DNR has received the Bonds, consisting of one fully-registered Bond 

numbered R-1 in the maximum principal amount set forth on the Bond.  The Bonds have been signed by 

the duly authorized officers of the City, with the City’s official seal affixed thereon, and have been 

authenticated by the manual signature of an authorized officer or signatory of UMB Bank, N.A., as Paying 

Agent. 

 

 2. Execution of Purchase Agreement.  The Purchase Agreement has been duly executed and 

delivered in the name and on behalf of DNR by the undersigned.  The Purchase Agreement has not been 

amended, modified or rescinded and remains in full force and effect as of the date hereof. 

 

3. Satisfaction of Purchase Agreement Requirements.  DNR has timely received in 

satisfactory form and manner all proceedings, certificates, opinions, letters and other documents required 

to be submitted to DNR pursuant to the Purchase Agreement prior to or on the date of the delivery of the 

Bonds (except to the extent DNR has waived or consented to modification of certain provisions thereof), 

and the City has in all respects complied with and satisfied all of its obligations to DNR that are required 

under the Purchase Agreement to be complied with and satisfied on or before the date hereof. 

 

MISSOURI DEPARTMENT  

OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
 

 

 

By:   

Title: Authorized Officer 

 



 

 

PAYING AGENT’S CLOSING CERTIFICATE 

 

Not to Exceed $4,501,000 

City of Carthage, Missouri 

Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds 

(State of Missouri – Direct Loan Program) 

Series 2019 
 

 The undersigned, UMB Bank, N.A., St. Louis, Missouri (the “Paying Agent”), as escrow agent and 

paying agent under the Escrow Trust Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”), entered into between the 

Paying Agent and the City of Carthage, Missouri (the “City”), in connection with the issuance of the 

above-referenced bonds (the “Bonds”) pursuant to the ordinance authorizing the Bonds adopted by the 

governing body of the City (the “Ordinance”), does hereby certify as follows:  

 

 1. Power and Authority of Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent is a national banking 

association with trust powers, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 

United States of America. The Paying Agent is authorized and empowered to execute and deliver the Escrow 

Agreement and has full power and authority to act as escrow agent and paying agent as provided in the 

Escrow Agreement.  The Paying Agent accepts the appointment as the escrow agent and paying agent by the 

City and hereby accepts the duties and obligations imposed upon it by the Ordinance and the Escrow 

Agreement. 

 

2. Authentication of Bonds.  Pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the 

Ordinance, prior to the delivery of the Bonds, the Certificate of Authentication on the Bonds so delivered 

was signed on behalf of the Paying Agent by a duly elected or appointed, qualified and acting officer or 

signatory of the Paying Agent, duly authorized to perform the acts referred to in this paragraph. 

 

 3. Execution of Escrow Agreement.  The Escrow Agreement has been duly executed on 

behalf of the Paying Agent by its duly authorized officer, and said person was at the time of the execution 

of the Escrow Agreement, and is now, the duly elected or appointed, qualified and acting incumbent of his 

or her respective office, and duly authorized to perform the acts referred to in this paragraph. 

 

 4. Receipt of Documents.  The Paying Agent hereby acknowledges receipt of the documents 

referred to in Section 3.1 of the Purchase Agreement that are required thereby to be filed with the Paying 

Agent prior to or simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds to the purchaser thereof. 

 

 DATED:  ________________________, 2019. 

 

 

UMB BANK, N.A., as Paying Agent 

 

 

 

 By:   

 Title: Vice President 

 



GILMORE & BELL, P.C. 

DRAFT – AUGUST 31, 2019 

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________ 

PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

Dated as of September 1, 2019  

__________________________ 

by and between the 

MISSOURI DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 

and the 

CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

relating to 

 

NOT TO EXCEED $4,501,000 

COMBINED WATERWORKS AND SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS 

(STATE OF MISSOURI – DIRECT LOAN PROGRAM) 

SERIES 2019 

 

OF THE 

 

CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

(i) 

PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

  Parties ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

  Recitals ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Definitions ......................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.2 Interpretation ...................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 1.3 DNR Actions ...................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

Section 2.1 Representations and Covenants of Participant ................................................................... 5 
Section 2.2 Representations of DNR .................................................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE III 

EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT; TERMS OF LOAN 

Section 3.1 Execution and Delivery of Agreement ............................................................................. 12 
Section 3.2 Maximum Principal Amount of Loan .............................................................................. 12 
Section 3.3 Funding of Purchase Price Installments and Disbursements ........................................... 12 
Section 3.4 Completion of Project and Initiation of Operations ......................................................... 13 
Section 3.5 Completion of Funding .................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE IV 

PAYMENTS 

Section 4.1 Bond Payments ................................................................................................................ 14 
Section 4.2 Additional Payments ........................................................................................................ 14 
Section 4.3 Loan Prepayment ............................................................................................................. 14 
Section 4.4 Disposition of Remaining Moneys .................................................................................. 14 

ARTICLE V 

TAX REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

Section 5.1 Meaning of Words and Terms .......................................................................................... 14 
Section 5.2 General ............................................................................................................................. 16 
Section 5.3 Authority and Purpose for Bonds .................................................................................... 16 
Section 5.4 Proceeds of Bonds; Other Sources ................................................................................... 16 



 

 

(ii) 

Section 5.5 Governmental Bond Tests and Related Requirements ..................................................... 16 
Section 5.6 Sinking Funds .................................................................................................................. 17 
Section 5.7 No Replacement Funds .................................................................................................... 17 
Section 5.8 Reimbursement of Expenditures ...................................................................................... 18 
Section 5.9 Final Written Allocation ................................................................................................... 18 
Section 5.10 Hedge Bonds .................................................................................................................... 18 
Section 5.11 Post-Issuance Compliance with Federal Tax Matters ...................................................... 18 
Section 5.12 Records ............................................................................................................................ 18 

ARTICLE VI 

ASSIGNMENTS 

Section 6.1 Assignment by DNR ........................................................................................................ 19 
Section 6.2 Assignment by the Participant ......................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE VII 

EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 7.1 Events of Default ............................................................................................................. 20 
Section 7.2 Notice of Default ............................................................................................................. 20 
Section 7.3 Remedies on Default ........................................................................................................ 20 
Section 7.4 Attorneys’ Fees and Other Expenses ............................................................................... 20 
Section 7.5 Application of Moneys .................................................................................................... 21 
Section 7.6 No Remedy Exclusive; Waiver; Notice ........................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.1 Continuing Disclosure ..................................................................................................... 21 
Section 8.2 Effect of Breach ............................................................................................................... 24 
Section 8.3 Termination of Agreement ............................................................................................... 24 
Section 8.4 Notices ............................................................................................................................. 24 
Section 8.5 Exculpatory Provision ...................................................................................................... 25 
Section 8.6 Amendment ...................................................................................................................... 25 
Section 8.7 Electronic Transactions .................................................................................................... 25 
Section 8.8 Severability of Invalid Provisions .................................................................................... 25 
Section 8.9 Execution in Counterparts................................................................................................ 25 
Section 8.10 Applicable Law ................................................................................................................ 25 

 

Exhibit A.  Form of Requisition 

Exhibit B.  Federal Requirements 

Exhibit C.  Initial Form of Annual Compliance Checklist 

Exhibit D.  Authority’s Tax Compliance Procedure 

 

 



 

 

 

PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

THIS PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of September 1, 2019, 

between the MISSOURI DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, a department of the State of 

Missouri, and its successors and assigns (“DNR”), and the CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI, a 

constitutional home rule city and political subdivision of the State of Missouri (the “Participant”). Terms 

not otherwise defined in the Recitals or Section 1 of this Agreement have the meanings set forth in the 

below-defined Ordinance. 

 

RECITALS 

 

1. Pursuant to 10 CSR 20-4.040 through 10 CSR 20-4.041 and 10 CSR 20-4.050 of the Code 

of State Regulations, DNR, in cooperation with the Clean Water Commission of the State of Missouri (the 

“Commission”), has developed and implemented the State of Missouri Direct Loan Program (the “Direct 

Loan Program”) and has stated its intent to make loans to political subdivisions of the State of Missouri. 

 

 2. The Commission has approved a loan to the Participant to be made by DNR pursuant to this 

Agreement (the “Loan”). 

 

3. DNR and the Participant have entered into this Agreement for the purposes of providing 

financing for improvements to certain publicly owned wastewater treatment facilities (the “Project” as further 

described in this Agreement) and setting forth their covenants and agreements respecting the application of 

the net proceeds of the Loan to finance the Project under the Direct Loan Program. 

 

4. The Loan will be evidenced by the Bonds of the Participant delivered to DNR, as owner of 

the Bonds (the “Owner”), in the form authorized by the Ordinance of the Participant (the “Ordinance”). 

 

5. As a condition to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, DNR has required that the 

Participant enter into the Escrow Agreement dated as of September 1, 2019 (the “Escrow Agreement”), 

between the Participant and UMB Bank, N.A., as paying agent and escrow agent (the “Paying Agent”). 

 

6. The Participant has passed the User Charge Ordinance (as further defined below), the form 

of which has been reviewed and approved by DNR. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to words and terms defined in the Recitals, elsewhere in 

this Agreement, including Articles V and VIII, and in the Ordinance, capitalized words and terms have the 

following meanings in this Agreement: 

 

“Actual Reimbursement Amount” means the amount of a Requisition approved for payment in 

accordance with Section 3.3. 

 

“Authorized Representative” means any person designated in writing by a certificate executed by 

the Participant and filed with the Paying Agent and DNR. 



 

 

-2- 

 

“Bond Counsel” means Gilmore & Bell, P.C., or another attorney or firm of attorneys with a 

nationally recognized standing in the field of municipal bond financing approved by a written instrument 

from DNR to the Participant and the Paying Agent. 

 

“Bond Payments” means the amounts required to be paid by the Participant in repayment of the 

Bonds pursuant to Section 4.1. 

 

“Bonds” means the Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds (State of 

Missouri – Direct Loan Program) Series 2019, issued by the Participant pursuant to the Ordinance. 

 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or any other day that banking 

institutions in the State are authorized or required to be closed. 

 

“Closing Date” means the date of the initial issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

  

“Completion of Funding” means the date, established by the Participant, that no further 

Requisitions will be submitted by the Participant, and therefore no further Purchase Price Installments will 

be funded by DNR, as evidenced by a written certificate executed by the Authorized Representative and 

filed with DNR and the Paying Agent. 

 

“Costs of Issuance” means, collectively, the Master Trust Bonds Expense and other costs of issuing 

the Bonds as certified by the Participant. 

 

“Disbursement” means each amount advanced from the Construction Fund to the Participant by 

the Paying Agent under this Agreement and Section 7 of the Escrow Agreement to pay Eligible Costs and 

Costs of Issuance, in an amount equal to the applicable Purchase Price Installment deposited by DNR 

pursuant to Section 3.3. 

 

“Eligible Costs” means Project Costs determined by DNR to be eligible under the Regulations. 

 

 “EPA” means the Environmental Protection Agency. 

 

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement dated as of September 1, 2019, between 

the Participant and the Paying Agent, as supplemented, modified or amended in accordance with its terms.  

 

“Event of Default” means an “Event of Default” as defined in Article VII. 

 

“Federal Act” means the Federal Water Quality Act of 1987, 33 U.S.C. Section 1381, et seq., as 

amended. 

 

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Participant, currently July 1 to June 30. 

 

“Funding Sources” means the sources identified by DNR from time to time to fund the Loan, 

initially as described in Section 2.2. 

  

“Ineligible Costs” means Project Costs that are not Eligible Costs. 

 

“Initiation of Operations” means the date when the first major constructed component is capable 

of being used for its intended purpose. 

 



 

 

-3- 

“Interest Period” means each six-month period from January 1 through June 30 and July 1 through 

December 31. 

 

“Loan” means the loan by DNR to the Participant, funded in installments from the Funding Sources 

in accordance with, and subject to the terms and conditions of, this Agreement.  The Loan is evidenced by 

the Bonds. 

 

“Master Trust Agreement” means, as applicable, the Amended and Restated Master Trust 

Agreement dated as of March 1, 2004 or the Master Trust Agreement dated as of November 1, 2010, each 

between the Authority (as defined in Section 5.1) and the Master Trustee, as amended, supplemented or 

restated from time to time. 

 

“Master Trust Bonds” means bonds of the Authority at any time outstanding and secured under the 

Master Trust Agreement. 

 

“Master Trust Bonds Expense” means the amount of $27,006.00, included in the amount deposited 

on the Closing Date in the Administrative Expense Fund. 

 

“Master Trustee” means UMB Bank, N.A., St. Louis, Missouri, as master trustee under the 

applicable Master Trust Agreement, and any successor master trustee pursuant to a Master Trust Agreement. 

 

“Maximum Principal Amount” means $4,501,000. 

 

“Ordinance” means the Ordinance of the Participant, passed on September 24, 2019, authorizing 

the issuance of the Bonds, as supplemented, modified or amended in accordance with its terms. 

  

“Project” means the acquisition, construction, improvement and equipping of certain wastewater 

facilities of the Participant further described as follows: 

 

The Project will add a new mechanical screen, increase the aerated basin capacity, 

increase aerobic sludge digestion capacity, and modify the ultraviolet (UV) disinfection 

system to remove a stagnant zone. The activated sludge system will be increased by 

construction of two new aeration basins and installing additional equipment to pump 

wastewater from the primary treatment system to the aeration basins, including the 

construction of new basins that will require additional blowers and air piping. Sludge 

digestion capacity will increase by converting current sludge storage basins to aerobic 

digestion through the addition of blowers and aeration equipment. The Project also 

includes all changes agreed to in writing by the Participant and DNR. 

 

“Project Costs” means all costs or expenses that are necessary, incident or directly attributable to 

the Project, consisting of Eligible Costs and Ineligible Costs, if any. 

 



 

 

-4- 

“Project Schedule” means the schedule for completion of the Project that is estimated by the 

Participant to be the following as of the date of execution of this Agreement: 

 

Event Projected Date (month/year) 

  

Advertising for bids June 2019 

Bid opening August 2019 

Construction contract executed October 2019 

Initiation of Operations January 2021 

Construction completion January 2021 

Project completion February 2022 

 

“Regulations” means 10 CSR 20-4.040 through 10 CSR 20-4.041 and 10 CSR 20-4.050 of the 

Code of State Regulations, as amended. 

 

“Requisition” means a Clean Water Reimbursement Form in substantially the form of Exhibit A, 

with such changes as are approved by DNR with written notice to the Participant and the Paying Agent. 

 

“State” means the State of Missouri. 

 

“Supplemental Agreement” means any agreement supplementing or amending this Agreement 

pursuant to Section 8.6. 

 

“User Charge Ordinance” means Ordinance No. _______________ adopted by the Governing 

Body of the Participant on ___________________, 20____, and as amended, supplemented or replaced. 

 

Section 1.2 Interpretation.   

 

(a) The words “herein,” “hereof” and “hereunder” and words of similar import, without 

reference to any particular section or subdivision, refer to this Agreement as a whole rather than to any 

particular section or subdivision of this Agreement. 

 

(b) References in this Agreement to any particular article, section or subdivision hereof are to 

the designated article, section or subdivision of this Agreement as originally executed. 

 

(c) The Table of Contents and titles of articles and sections herein are for convenience of 

reference only and are not a part of this Agreement, and shall not define or limit the provisions of this 

Agreement. 

 

(d) Unless the context hereof clearly requires otherwise, the singular shall include the plural 

and vice versa and the masculine shall include the feminine and vice versa. 

 

(e) Words importing person shall include partnerships, limited liability companies, 

associations and corporations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons. 

 

(f) Articles, sections, subsections and clauses mentioned by number only are those so 

numbered that are contained in this Agreement. 

 

(g) Any opinion of counsel required under this Agreement shall be a written opinion of such 

counsel. 

 



 

 

-5- 

(h) Wherever an item or items are listed after the word “including,” such listing is not intended 

to be a listing that excludes items not listed. 

 

(i) When used in this Agreement, “day” means “calendar day.” 

 

Section 1.3 DNR Actions.  All approvals, notices, consents and other actions of DNR under 

this Agreement (other than the execution of this Agreement and any amendments hereto) will be executed 

by the Director, Financial Assistance Center, Water Protection Program (“WPP”) of DNR or any other 

person designated from time to time by the Director of DNR by a written instrument filed with the 

Participant and the Paying Agent. 

ARTICLE II 

 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

 

Section 2.1 Representations and Covenants of Participant.  The Participant represents to and 

covenants with DNR, as follows: 

 

(a) Organization and Authority. 

(i) The Participant is a constitutional home rule city duly created and validly existing 

under the laws of the State and has the necessary power and authority to own its properties and 

carry on its governmental functions as now being conducted. 

(ii) The Participant has full legal right and authority and all necessary licenses and 

permits required as of the date of this Agreement to own, operate and maintain the System, to carry 

on its activities relating to the System, to undertake and complete the Project, to execute and deliver 

this Agreement, to issue the Bonds, to pledge the sources for repayment of the Loan and the Bonds 

under this Agreement, the Ordinance and the Bonds, and to carry out its agreements under this 

Agreement. 

(iii) The proceedings of the Participant’s Governing Body approving this Agreement 

and authorizing the Participant to undertake and complete the Project have been duly and lawfully 

passed. 

(iv) This Agreement, the Bonds, the Ordinance, the User Charge Ordinance and all 

other ordinances of the Participant authorizing the Participant to undertake and complete the Project 

have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Participant, and constitute the legal, valid 

and binding obligations of the Participant enforceable in accordance with their terms, subject to 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ 

rights and to the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of equity. 

(b) Full Disclosure.  To the best knowledge of the Participant, after due investigation, there is 

no fact that the Participant has not disclosed to DNR in writing on the Participant’s application for 

participation in the Direct Loan Program, or otherwise, that materially and adversely affects or that will 

materially and adversely affect the properties or activities of the Participant or the System, or the ability of 

the Participant to make all Bond Payments and otherwise observe and perform its agreements under this 

Agreement. 

(c) Pending Litigation.  To the best knowledge of the Participant, after due investigation, there 

are no proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the Participant, threatened against or affecting the 



 

 

-6- 

Participant, in any court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal that, if 

adversely determined, would materially and adversely affect the properties, activities, prospects or 

condition (financial or otherwise) of the Participant or the System, or the ability of the Participant to make 

all Bond Payments and otherwise observe and perform its agreements under this Agreement, that have not 

been disclosed in writing to DNR in the Participant’s application for participation in the Direct Loan 

Program or otherwise. 

(d) Compliance with Existing Laws and Agreements.  The agreements of the Participant in 

this Agreement will not constitute a default under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lease or agreement 

or other instrument executed by the Participant or by which it or any of its property is bound or any 

applicable law, rule, regulation or judicial proceeding. 

(e) No Defaults.  No event has occurred and no condition exists that constitutes or, with the 

giving of notice or the lapse of time, would constitute an Event of Default.  To the knowledge of the 

Participant, after due investigation, the Participant is not in violation of any agreement that would materially 

adversely affect the ability of the Participant to make all Bond Payments or otherwise observe and perform 

its agreements under this Agreement. 

(f) Governmental Consent.  To the best of its knowledge, the Participant has made all filings 

that it is obligated to make with, and has obtained all permits, licenses, franchises, consents, authorizations 

and approvals required to date from, all federal, state and local regulatory agencies having jurisdiction to 

the extent, if any, required by applicable laws and regulations to be made or to be obtained in undertaking 

the Project or this Agreement.  To the best of its knowledge, the Participant has complied with all applicable 

provisions of law requiring any notification to any governmental body or officer in connection with this 

Agreement or with the undertaking, completion or financing of the Project. 

(g) Source for Repayment.  The Participant has established a dedicated revenue source for the 

repayment of the Loan.  The dedicated source of revenue includes a system of service rates, fees and charges 

or other sources of revenue established under the Ordinance and the User Charge Ordinance for such 

purpose. 

(h) Performance Under Agreement.  The Participant covenants and agrees: 

(i) to comply with all applicable State and federal laws, rules and regulations in the 

performance of this Agreement, including federal laws and executive orders referenced in 

Exhibit B to the extent applicable; and 

(ii) to cooperate with DNR in the timely observance and performance of the respective 

agreements of the Participant and DNR under this Agreement. 

(i) Control of Project Site.  The Participant will provide, or has provided, written assurance to 

DNR, signed by an attorney, that the Participant has proper title, easements, and rights-of-way to the 

property on or through which the Project is to be constructed.  This written assurance will be provided prior 

to construction contract award. 

(j) Bid Solicitations.  Executive Order 12549 – Debarment and Suspension establishes 

procedures that require EPA to deny any individual, organization, or unit of government the opportunity to 

participate in federally-assisted programs because of misconduct or poor performance.  All records from 

Central Contractor Registry (CCR), Federal Agency Registration (Fedreg), Online Representations and 

Certifications Application (ORCA) - and the Excluded Parties List System (EPLS), active or expired, were 

moved to the federal System for Award Management (SAM) e-procurement system.  The Participant can 



 

 

-7- 

search these records and filter the results.  The following paragraph must be included in the Instructions to 

Bidders: 

 

“The Code of Federal Regulations at Title 2, Part 180, prohibits participation in EPA funded 

contracts by persons excluded or disqualified from doing business with the federal government.  

Bidders are responsible for advising the Owner if they are excluded or disqualified, and to check 

whether subcontractors they intend to use are excluded or disqualified.  All tiers of subcontractors 

have the same responsibility to notify the one for which they are providing services if they are 

excluded or disqualified, and to check the status of any subcontractors they intend to use.  Status 

can be checked on the System for Award Management (SAM) located on the Internet at 

https://www.sam.gov/SAM/.  All subcontracts at any tier should include this language.” 

The Participant acknowledges that doing business with any party appearing in the “List of Parties Excluded 

from Federal Procurement or Non Procurement Programs” may result in the termination of the Participant’s 

participation in the Direct Loan Program and may also result in suspension or debarment under the 

Regulations.  The Participant will obtain the written approval of DNR before advertising for bids. 

(k) Buy American Iron and Steel Products.  In accordance with Sec. 608.(a) of the Federal 

Water Pollution Control Act, the Participant assures that it, as well as its contractors and subcontractors, 

will only use iron and steel products in the Project that are produced in the United States of America in a 

manner consistent with the United States’ obligations under international agreements.  The term “iron and 

steel products” means the following products made primarily of iron or steel:  lined or unlined pipes and 

fittings, manhole covers and other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, 

valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete, and construction materials.  The Participant understands 

that this requirement may only be waived by the applicable federal agency in limited situations as set out 

in Sec. 608.(d) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. 

 
(l) Performance and Payment Bonds.  The Participant will require any Project contractor to 

post a separate performance bond and a separate payment bond or other security approved by DNR, each 

in the amount of the bid. 

(m) Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (“DBEs”). 

 

(1) The Participant will ensure that DBEs have the opportunity to compete as sources 

for the procurement of supplies, equipment, construction and services related to this Agreement.  

The Participant agrees to include information about these requirements in solicitation documents, 

including the following: 

 

(A) the prime contractor must pay its subcontractor for satisfactory 

performance no more than 30 days from the prime contractor’s receipt of payment from 

the Participant; 

 

(B) the Participant must be notified in writing by its prime contractor prior to 

any termination of a DBE subcontractor for convenience by the prime contractor; 

 

(C) if a DBE subcontractor fails to complete work under its subcontract for 

any reason, the prime contractor must employ the “six good faith efforts” described in 

subparagraph (2) if soliciting a replacement subcontractor; and 

 

(D) the prime contractor is to employ the “six good faith efforts” even if the 

prime contractor has achieved its “fair share goals” (the current “fair share goals” are 10% 



 

 

-8- 

for Minority Business Enterprises (“MBE”) and 5% for Women Business Enterprises 

(“WBE”)). 

 

(2) The “six good faith efforts” are: 

 

(A) ensure DBEs are made aware of contracting opportunities to the fullest 

extent practicable through outreach and recruitment activities. For Indian Tribal, State and 

Local and Government recipients, this includes placing DBEs on solicitation lists and 

soliciting them whenever they are potential sources; 

 

(B) make information on forthcoming opportunities available to DBEs and 

arrange time frames for contracts and establish delivery schedules, where the requirements 

permit, in a way that encourages and facilitates participation by DBEs in the competitive 

process. This includes, whenever possible, posting solicitations for bids or proposals for a 

minimum of 30 calendar days before the bid or proposal closing date; 

 

(C) consider in the contracting process whether firms competing for large 

contracts could subcontract with DBEs. For Indian Tribal, State and local Government 

recipients, this includes dividing total requirements when economically feasible into 

smaller tasks or quantities to permit maximum participation by DBEs in the competitive 

process; 

 

(D) encourage contracting with a consortium of DBEs when a contract is too 

large for one of these firms to handle individually; 

 

(E) use the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration and 

the Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of Commerce; and 

 

(F) require any prime contractor or other recipient, if it is awarding 

subcontracts, to take the affirmative steps in clause (B) of this subparagraph. 

 

(3) DBE Reporting: MBE/WBE reporting is required where there are funds budgeted 

for procuring construction, equipment, services and supplies, that exceed the threshold amount of 

$150,000, including any amendments and/or modifications.  Once the threshold is exceeded, all 

procurement actions are reportable, not just that portion that exceeds the threshold. The Participant 

shall utilize EPA form 5700-52A to annually report to DNR procurements for the Project.  Annual 

reports are due by October 30th of each year. Final reports are due by October 30th or 90 days after 

the end of the Project period, whichever comes first. 

 

(n) Prevailing Wage.  The Participant will require any Project contractor and subcontractor to 

pay all laborers and mechanics employed by the contractor or subcontractor at rates not less than the greater 

of (1) those rates prevailing on projects of a character similar in the locality as determined by the Secretary 

of Labor in accordance with Subchapter IV of Chapter 31 of Title 40, United States Code (Davis-Bacon 

Act), as required by Sec. 602(b)(6) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act or (2) those rates required 

pursuant to Chapter 290 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended.  The Participant agrees to include 

information about these requirements in solicitation documents. 

 

(o) Contract Award.  The Participant, with the prior written concurrence of DNR, will award 

any construction contract or contracts for the Project to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder.   



 

 

-9- 

(p) Completion of Project and Provision of Moneys.  The Participant agrees: 

(i) to exercise its best efforts in accordance with prudent wastewater collection and 

treatment utility practice to complete the Project in a timely manner in accordance with the Project 

Schedule; and 

(ii) subject to the provisions of the Ordinance, to provide from its own financial 

resources all moneys in excess of the amount available under this Agreement required to complete 

the Project. 

 

(q) Requests for Funding; Use of Proceeds.  The Participant will request the funding of 

Purchase Price Installments to pay Eligible Costs in accordance with this Agreement to the extent the sum 

of Purchase Price Installments and Costs of Issuance has not exceeded the Maximum Principal Amount, in 

order to provide for the prompt payment of the contractors.  The Participant will apply the Disbursements 

to finance a portion of the Project Costs, and, where applicable, to reimburse the Participant for a portion 

of the Project Costs, which portion was paid or incurred in anticipation of reimbursement from moneys 

held in the Construction Fund and is eligible for reimbursement pursuant to the Regulations.  All costs will 

be Eligible Costs that DNR is authorized to finance pursuant to the Federal Act and the Regulations. 

(r) Notice of Completion.  The Participant will provide written notice of the Initiation of 

Operations and the completion of construction of the Project to DNR within 45 days after the occurrence 

of each of these events. 

(s) Compliance Certification.  This paragraph is applicable if DNR notifies the Participant in 

writing that the actions described in this paragraph are required.  On the first anniversary of the Initiation 

of Operations, the Participant will certify to DNR whether the Project meets the Project performance 

standards.  Any statement of noncompliance must be accompanied by a corrective action report containing 

an analysis of the cause of the Project’s failure to meet performance standards, the actions necessary to 

bring it into compliance and a projected date for positive certification of the Project.  Timely corrective 

action will be implemented by the Participant. 

(t) Retention of Project Records.  The Participant will retain all Project records in accordance 

with Section 5.12 of this Agreement and Chapter 109 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended. 

(u) Operations and Maintenance of System; User Charge Ordinance.  The Participant will, in 

accordance with prudent wastewater collection and treatment utility practice, 

(i) at all times operate the System in an efficient manner, 

(ii) maintain the System in good repair, working order and operating condition over 

the structural and design life of the System, 

(iii) implement the User Charge Ordinance as approved by DNR prior to the Initiation 

of Operations and for the term of the Loan, and 

(iv) in accordance with 10 CSR 20-9.020(2) of the Regulations, provide a certified 

operator for the life of the System. 



 

 

-10- 

(v) Records and Accounts; Audits. 

 

(i) The Participant will keep accurate records and accounts for the System (the 

“System Records”) separate and distinct from its other records and accounts (the “General 

Accounts”).  The System Records and General Accounts will be available for inspection by DNR 

at any reasonable time. 

 

(ii) The Participant will maintain the System Records in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America as codified in the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board’s Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting 

Standards (Codification). 

 

(A) The Participant will use the accrual or modified accrual basis of 

accounting (in order to provide an effective measure of costs and expenditures) for the 

System Records. 

 

(B) The Participant may use an accounting method other than accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America for its General Accounts. 

 

(iii) Promptly after the end of each Fiscal Year, the Participant will cause an audit of 

the System for the preceding Fiscal Year to be made by a certified public accountant or firm of 

certified public accountants employed for that purpose and paid from the Revenues pursuant to the 

Ordinance.  The annual audit will cover in reasonable detail the operation of the System during the 

Fiscal Year.  So long as the Loan is outstanding, within 180 days after the end of the Participant’s 

Fiscal Year, a copy of the audit will be delivered (via regular mail or electronically) to DNR.  If 

audited financial statements are not available by the time required pursuant to this Section, the 

Participant shall notify DNR in writing of the delay with the expected date of completion.  
  

(iv) If notified by DNR, the Participant will comply with OMB’s Uniform 

Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 

(Uniform Grants Guidance), governing the audit of state and local governments, as determined by 

the EPA’s Guidance Letter dated December 24, 2014, if the Participant expends during any Fiscal 

Year an aggregate amount of $750,000 or more of federal assistance (1) under the Direct Loan 

Program and (2) from other federal sources.  

 

(A) A copy of the Participant’s annual audit, including the written comments 

and recommendations of the Participant’s auditor, will be furnished to DNR within the 

time period provided in OMB’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 

and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Grants Guidance). 

 

(B) The amount of federal assistance to the Participant under the Direct Loan 

Program for each Fiscal Year will be identified in each payment review letter transmitted 

to the Participant by DNR. 

 

(v) In accordance with, and subject to the requirements of, Section 29.235 of the 

Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended, the Participant will (A) make available to the State 

auditor, or his or her designee, all books, accounts, records, reports, vouchers and other documents 

relating to the Project and the Loan and (B) permit the examination and inspection of all property, 

equipment and facilities constituting the Project. 

 



 

 

-11- 

(w) Inspections; Information.  The Participant will permit the EPA, the Paying Agent, DNR 

and any party designated by DNR to examine, visit and inspect the Project at any reasonable time and to 

inspect and make copies of any accounts, books and records, including its records regarding receipts, 

disbursements, contracts, investments, its financial condition and other related matters, and will supply such 

reports and information as the EPA, the Paying Agent and DNR may reasonably require. 

(x) Insurance.  The Participant will carry and maintain the amount of all risk insurance on the 

properties and operations of the System as would be carried by similar municipal operators of wastewater 

collection and treatment facilities, insofar as the properties are insurable at a commercially reasonable cost. 

(y) Notice of Material Adverse Change.  The Participant will promptly notify DNR of any 

material and adverse change in the activities, prospects or condition (financial or otherwise) of the System 

or in the ability of the Participant to make the Bond Payments and otherwise observe and perform its 

agreements under this Agreement. 

(z) Completion Required Without Regard to Sufficiency of Loan.  Subject to the provisions of 

the Ordinance, the Participant agrees to complete the Project whether or not the proceeds from the Loan are 

sufficient to complete the Project. 

(aa) Signage. The Participant agrees to comply with the Guidelines for Enhancing Public 

Awareness of SRF Assistance Agreements, issued by EPA and dated June 3, 2015. 

Section 2.2 Representations of DNR.  DNR represents as follows: 

(a) DNR is a department of the State and a governmental instrumentality duly organized and 

existing under the laws of the State with lawful power and authority to enter into this Agreement acting by 

and through its duly authorized officers. 

(b) DNR is the State’s administrative body responsible for the enforcement of the Federal Act 

and Chapter 644 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended, and is responsible for the management 

of the Direct Loan Program.  DNR will comply with the terms and conditions of its agreements with EPA 

applicable to the Direct Loan Program. 

(c) DNR commits to fund the Loan from the following sources (provided DNR may modify 

the sources if DNR has the legal authority to commit the replacement sources to the funding of the Loan): 

 (i) Capitalization Grant Agreement dated August 30, 2018, identification number CS-

29000123-0; and 

 (ii) The Water and Wastewater Loan Revolving Fund. 

(d) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by DNR will not result in a 

breach of any of the terms of, or constitute a default under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lease or 

agreement or other instrument to which DNR is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound or any 

applicable law, rule or regulation. 



 

 

-12- 

ARTICLE III 

EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT; TERMS OF LOAN 

Section 3.1 Execution and Delivery of Agreement.  Simultaneously with the execution of this 

Agreement, the Participant will deliver the following: 

(a) to DNR and the Paying Agent, a certified copy of the Ordinance and the minutes 

(or an excerpt thereof) of the meeting of the Participant’s Governing Body showing the passage of 

the Ordinance; 

(b) to the Paying Agent, the executed Bonds in the maximum principal amount of 

$4,501,000, to be held by the Paying Agent in trust on behalf of the Owner; 

(c) to DNR and the Paying Agent, an executed counterpart of this Agreement and the 

Escrow Agreement; 

(d) to DNR and the Paying Agent, a certificate of the Participant executed by the 

Authorized Representative in form and substance satisfactory to DNR; and 

(e) to DNR and the Paying Agent, a signed copy of the opinion of Bond Counsel to 

the Participant to the effect that the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Escrow 

Agreement, and the Bonds have been duly authorized by the Participant in accordance with the 

Act; this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the Bonds have been duly and validly executed 

and delivered by the Participant and constitute valid and binding obligations of the Participant 

enforceable in accordance with their terms; and the Bonds are valid and binding special, limited 

obligations of the Participant payable solely from, and secured by a pledge of, the Net Revenues 

derived by the Participant from the operation of the System, after providing for the costs of 

operation and maintenance thereof; and will address whether the Bonds are issued on parity with, 

or are junior and subordinate to, any outstanding System Revenue Bonds of the Participant.  In 

rendering the foregoing opinion, Bond Counsel may take an exception on account of bankruptcy, 

insolvency and other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and to the exercise of judicial 

discretion in accordance with general equitable principles. 

Section 3.2 Maximum Principal Amount of Loan.  Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, 

DNR will make the Loan in installments to the Participant in the maximum aggregate principal amount of 

$4,501,000 to pay Eligible Costs of the Project and to pay Costs of Issuance.  The Maximum Principal 

Amount may be reduced without revision of any other terms, provisions or conditions of this Agreement to 

reflect reductions in the estimated or actual total Eligible Costs as impacted by opening of bids for 

construction, change orders, final actual costs, and prepayments.  The Loan is evidenced by the Bonds. 

Section 3.3 Funding of Purchase Price Installments and Disbursements. 

(a) DNR will fund Purchase Price Installments and moneys will be disbursed from the 

Construction Fund to the Participant only once each calendar month in accordance with this Section and 

the Escrow Agreement.  DNR will not fund a Purchase Price Installment in the months of June and 

December after the date that is two Business Days prior to the 15th calendar day of those months, unless 

(i) the Participant has made special arrangements with DNR and the Paying Agent to assure that interest on 

the Bonds payable on the following Interest Payment Date will be calculated and payment received by the 

Paying Agent not less than two Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date, and (ii) DNR and the 

Paying Agent have agreed to the special arrangements, in their sole discretion. 



 

 

-13- 

(b) The Participant will deliver, by overnight delivery or regular mail service, a completed 

Requisition to DNR.  The Requisition must be executed by the Authorized Representative, set forth the 

amounts due and payable to the payees identified in signed invoices or statements attached to the 

Requisition submitted to DNR, and contain any additional information requested by DNR.  The execution 

and delivery of a Requisition will constitute a representation by the Participant that, to the best of its 

knowledge, the amounts for which a Requisition is submitted are due and payable and constitute Eligible 

Costs and/or Costs of Issuance. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, no Requisition is 

required for the initial Purchase Price Installment related to the payment of Costs of Issuance. 

(c) DNR will use its best efforts to review a Requisition within ten Business Days after its 

receipt to determine if any Project Costs are Ineligible Costs.  This determination will be conclusive, unless 

determined otherwise by EPA in its annual oversight reviews.  DNR will notify the Paying Agent of DNR’s 

approval of the Requisition in whole or in part by transmitting to the Paying Agent the approved Requisition 

by facsimile transmission.  The approved Requisition will not be accompanied by applicable vouchers and 

statements.  DNR will not approve any Requisition upon an Event of Default by the Participant or the 

issuance of a stop-work order by EPA or DNR. 

(d) Upon DNR’s approval of a Requisition, DNR will fund a Purchase Price Installment of the 

Bonds in an amount equal to the Actual Reimbursement Amount by electronic transfer of funds to the 

Paying Agent for deposit by the Paying Agent in the Construction Fund. 

(e) Subject to Section 7 of the Escrow Agreement, the Paying Agent will pay the Actual 

Reimbursement Amount to the Participant within two Business Days after the Paying Agent’s receipt of 

the approved Requisition.   

Section 3.4 Completion of Project and Initiation of Operations.  The completion of the Project 

shall be evidenced to the Paying Agent and DNR by a certificate signed by the Authorized Representative 

stating (a) that the Project has been completed in accordance with the plans and specifications therefor, 

(b) that all Project Costs have been paid, except Project Costs the payment of which is not yet due or is 

being retained or contested in good faith by the Participant, (c) the date of the Initiation of Operations, and 

(d) that the Project meets National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit limits, if 

applicable.  The Participant’s certificate must be accompanied by a certification by the Consulting Engineer 

that the Project was constructed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications and, if applicable, 

meets NPDES permit limits.  The Participant’s certificate may state that it is given without prejudice as to 

any rights of the Participant against third parties that exist as of the date of the certificate or that may 

subsequently come into being. 

Section 3.5 Completion of Funding. 

 

(a) The Completion of Funding will be the date of a certificate signed by the Authorized 

Representative stating that no further funding of Purchase Price Installments will be requested by the 

Participant and delivered to the Paying Agent and DNR.  DNR may direct the Participant to sign and deliver 

a Completion of Funding certificate in appropriate circumstances.  Appropriate circumstances include, but 

are not limited, to the following: 

 

(i) the Participant appears to have satisfied or is in a position to satisfy the conditions 

set forth in Section 3.4 for completion of the Project and/or has filed the certificate described in 

Section 3.4 but has not filed the Completion of Funding certificate in a timely manner; 

 



 

 

-14- 

(ii) the Participant has not submitted a Requisition for a significant period of time or 

otherwise demonstrated that the Participant is proceeding with due diligence to complete the 

Project; or 

 

(iii) Completion of Funding has not occurred by the third anniversary of the Closing 

Date, unless the Participant, by written request to DNR, requests an extension and establishes to 

the satisfaction of DNR that Completion of Funding will occur within a reasonable period 

thereafter. 

 

(b) Within 10 Business Days after the Participant has delivered the Completion of Funding 

certificate, DNR will provide a final debt service schedule and replacement Exhibit B (Mandatory Sinking 

Fund Redemption Schedule) to the Ordinance. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

PAYMENTS 

Section 4.1 Bond Payments. 

(a) The Participant will repay the Loan by making the Bond Payments in accordance with the 

Ordinance. 

(b) The Participant represents that the first scheduled principal payment of the Bonds is prior 

to the first anniversary of the expected Initiation of Operations. 

Section 4.2 Additional Payments.  The Participant will pay the Administrative Fee and the 

Paying Agent’s fees and expenses pursuant to Section 211 of the Ordinance. 

Section 4.3 Loan Prepayment.  The Participant may prepay the Loan by complying with the 

redemption provisions for the Bonds as set forth in the Ordinance. The Participant will be responsible for 

the payment of any professional costs, fees and expenses incurred in connection with the prepayment of the 

Loan pursuant to Section 301 of the Ordinance. 

Section 4.4 Disposition of Remaining Moneys.  Upon the payment in full of the Bonds and the 

payment of the Administrative Fee, the Paying Agent’s Fee and expenses and the extraordinary fees and 

expenses of the Paying Agent, if any, the Paying Agent will disburse the moneys and Investment Securities 

remaining in the Repayment Fund to the Participant. 

ARTICLE V 

TAX REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

 

Section 5.1 Meaning of Words and Terms.  Words and phrases used in this Article generally 

have the meanings assigned in §§ 103 and 141-150 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

“Code”), in the applicable regulations and rulings issued by the U.S. Treasury Department (the “Treasury 

Regulations”), and in Article I.  In addition to words and terms defined in this Agreement, the following 

words and terms used in this Article have the following meanings: 

“Annual Compliance Checklist” means a questionnaire and/or checklist that is completed each year 

for the Bonds by the Participant, as set forth in the Tax Compliance Procedure, initially in the form set forth 

in Exhibit C, executed by the Participant Bond Compliance Officer. 



 

 

-15- 

“Authority” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority, a body 

corporate and politic and a governmental instrumentality of the State. 

“Authority Bond Compliance Officer” means the Deputy Director of the Authority or any successor 

officer tasked with post-issuance compliance duties pursuant to the Tax Compliance Procedure. 

“Bond Transcript” means the “transcript of proceedings” or other similarly titled set of transaction 

documents assembled by Bond Counsel following the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Bond Year” means each one-year period (or shorter period for the first Bond Year) ending July 1. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“Final Written Allocation” means the Final Written Allocation of Bond proceeds prepared pursuant 

to Section 5.9. 

“Financed Facility” means the portion of the Project consisting of property financed or refinanced 

with the proceeds of the Bonds as described in this Agreement.  If there is more than one “Project” described 

in the definition of “Project” in Article I, for this Article V “Financed Facility” means the Bond-financed 

portion of each “Project” described in Article I. 

“Investment” means any security, obligation, annuity contract or other investment-type property 

that is purchased directly with, or otherwise allocated to, gross proceeds of the Bonds.  This term does not 

include a tax-exempt bond, except for “specified private activity bonds” as defined in Code § 57(a)(5)(C), 

but it does include the investment element of most interest rate caps. 

“Issue Date” means the date of issuance of the Bonds, which is the first date that the sum of the 

initial Purchase Price Installment and subsequent Purchase Price Installments is greater than $50,000. 

“Measurement Period” means, with respect to each item of property financed as part of the 

Financed Facility, the period beginning on the later of (a) the Issue Date or (b) the date the property is 

placed in service and ending on the earlier of (i) the final maturity date of the Bonds or (ii) the expected 

economic useful life of the property. 

“Non-Qualified User” means a person other than a Qualified User. 

“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means the written opinion of a firm of nationally recognized Bond 

Counsel acceptable to the Authority to the effect that the proposed action or the failure to act will not 

adversely affect the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes. 

“Participant Bond Compliance Officer” means the Participant’s City Clerk or any successor to the 

duties of such official. 

“Post-Issuance Tax Requirements” means those requirements related to the use of proceeds of the 

Bonds, the use of the Financed Facility and the investment of gross proceeds of the Bonds after the Issue 

Date. 

“Qualified User” means a State, territory, a possession of the United States of America, the District 

of Columbia, or any political subdivision thereof or any instrumentality of such unit.  The term “Qualified 

User” does not include the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality thereof. 



 

 

-16- 

“Tax Compliance Procedure” means the Authority’s State Revolving Funds Programs Tax 

Compliance Procedure dated as of July 25, 2013, attached as Exhibit D, as amended and supplemented 

from time to time. 

Section 5.2 General.  The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds to pay the 

costs of the Financed Facility.  The Participant acknowledges that the investment and expenditure of 

proceeds of the Bonds are primarily within its control and that substantially all of the net proceeds of the 

Bonds will be used to finance property that is owned and controlled by the Participant.  For these reasons, 

the Participant acknowledges and agrees that, in order to induce DNR to provide favorable financing 

through the Direct Loan Program by the purchase of the Bonds and the Authority to issue its Master Trust 

Bonds from time to time, the Participant makes the representations and covenants related to the Post-

Issuance Tax Requirements as set forth in this Article V for the benefit of DNR and the Authority. 

Section 5.3 Authority and Purpose for Bonds.  The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of 

providing funds to pay the costs of the Financed Facility. 

Section 5.4 Proceeds of Bonds. The total maximum proceeds to be received by the Participant 

from the sale of the Bonds will be $4,501,000, funded in installments, as follows: (i) the initial Purchase Price 

Installment paid to the Paying Agent on the Closing Date in the amount of $72,506.00, and (ii) the balance 

funded from time to time pursuant to this Agreement and deposited in the Construction Fund in accordance 

with the Escrow Agreement.  The Participant expects to request the funding of additional Purchase Price 

Installments on the dates and in the amounts as set forth in the Participant’s due diligence request form or 

related documents filed with DNR. 

Section 5.5 Governmental Bond Tests and Related Requirements. 

(a) General.  The Participant will not use any portion of the Bond proceeds, including any 

Investment earnings on Bond proceeds, directly or indirectly, nor permit the use of any portion of the 

Financed Facility, in a manner that would cause any Bond to be a “private activity bond” as defined in Code 

§ 141. 

(b) Use of Financed Facility.  The Bond proceeds will be used to finance or refinance the 

Financed Facility.  Throughout the Measurement Period, all property comprising the Financed Facility will 

be owned by the Participant.  Not more than 10% of the proceeds of the Bonds will be used in a manner 

that constitutes a “private business use” during the Measurement Period. In making the foregoing 

representations, the Participant acknowledges that (i) use of the property comprising the Financed Facility 

is determined annually throughout the Measurement Period; (ii) the use of the Financed Facility is treated 

as the direct use of proceeds of the Bonds; (iii) the term “private business use” generally means ownership 

or lease by, or other use in the trade or business of, a Non-Qualified User; (iv) any activity carried on by a 

Non-Qualified User other than a natural person is treated as a trade or business; (v) the Financed Facility is 

treated as being used for a private business use if it is leased to a Non-Qualified User and subleased to a 

Qualified User, or leased to a Qualified User and then subleased to a Non-Qualified User, if the Non-

Qualified User’s use is in a trade or business; and (vi) in most cases, use of the Financed Facility constitutes 

private business use only if a Non-Qualified User has special legal entitlements to use the Financed Facility 

under an arrangement with the Participant. 

(c) Private Security or Payment.  The payment of principal and interest on the Bonds will not 

be (under the terms of the Bonds or any underlying arrangement) directly or indirectly: 

(1) secured by (i) any interest in property used or to be used for a private business use, 

or (ii) any interest in payments in respect of such property; or 



 

 

-17- 

(2) derived from payments (whether or not such payments are made to the Participant 

in respect of property or borrowed money) used or to be used for a private business use. 

For purposes of the foregoing, taxes of general application are not treated as a private payment or as private 

security so long as no taxpayer enters into any “impermissible agreement” with respect to the collection or 

payment of the tax as described in Treasury Regulations § 1.141-4(e)(4)(ii).  The Participant will use 

revenues derived from the operation of the Financed Facility to pay the debt service on the Bonds.  All 

revenues will be derived from rates, fees and charges that are generally applicable and uniformly applied, 

and that do not convey priority rights or other preferential benefits for use of the Financed Facility. 

(d) No Private Loan.  No proceeds of the Bonds will be loaned directly or indirectly to any 

Non-Qualified User.  Special assessments may be used as a source of repayment of the Bonds so long as 

the assessments meet the criteria set out in Treasury Regulations § 1.141-5(d). 

(e) No Federal Guarantees.  The Participant will not take any action or permit any action to 

be taken that would cause the Bonds to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Code § 149(b). 

(f) Management Contracts.  [**CITY TO CONFIRM**] The Participant has not entered into 

any “Management Contract” (as defined below) with any Non-Qualified User and will not enter into or 

renew any Management Contract with any Non-Qualified User without first obtaining an Opinion of Bond 

Counsel, addressed to the Participant and the Owner, that the Management Contract will not adversely 

affect the exclusion of the interest on the applicable Master Trust Bonds from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes. The term “Management Contract” is defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.141-3(b) as 

a management, service, or incentive payment contract with an entity that provides services involving all or 

a portion of any function of the Financed Facility, such as a contract to manage the Financed Facility or 

any portion thereof.  Contracts for services that are solely incidental to the primary governmental function 

of the Financed Facility (for example, contracts for janitorial, office equipment repair, billing, or similar 

services) are not treated as management contracts. 

(g) Leases.  [**CITY TO CONFIRM**] The Participant has not entered into any lease with a 

Non-Qualified User and will not enter into or renew a lease of all or any portion of the Financed Facility 

with any Non-Qualified User, without first obtaining an Opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the 

Participant and the Owner, that such lease will not adversely affect the exclusion of the interest on the 

applicable Master Trust Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Use of portions of the 

Financed Facility by members of the general public on a short-term basis in the ordinary course of the 

Participant’s operation of the Financed Facility is disregarded. 

Section 5.6 Sinking Funds.  The Participant is required under the Ordinance to make periodic 

payments in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  The Participant will 

deposit these payments with the Paying Agent into the Principal Account and the Interest Account of the 

Repayment Fund held by the Paying Agent.  Except for the Principal Account and the Interest Account and 

the Debt Service Fund, the Participant has not established, and does not expect to establish, any sinking 

fund or other similar fund expected to be used directly or indirectly to pay principal of or interest on the 

Bonds.  The Repayment Fund and the Debt Service Fund are used primarily to achieve a proper matching 

of revenues with principal and interest payments on the Bonds within each Bond Year and the Participant 

expects that the Repayment Fund and the Debt Service Fund will each qualify as a “bona fide debt service 

fund,” as that term is defined in the Treasury Regulations. 

Section 5.7 No Replacement Funds.  None of the Bond proceeds will be used as a substitute 

for other funds that were intended or earmarked to pay costs of the Financed Facility, and that have been or 

will be used to acquire higher yielding Investments.  Except for the Principal Account and the Interest 



 

 

-18- 

Account of the Repayment Fund and the Debt Service Fund, there are no other funds pledged or committed 

in a manner that provides a reasonable assurance that such funds would be available for payment of the 

principal of or interest on the Bonds if the Participant encounters financial difficulty. 

Section 5.8 Reimbursement of Expenditures.  On May 13, 2014, the Participant’s Governing 

Body passed an ordinance declaring the intent of the Participant to borrow to finance costs of the Financed 

Facility for the Participant, and to reimburse the Participant for expenditures made for the Financed Facility 

prior to the issuance of obligations evidencing the borrowing (the “Reimbursement Action”).  A copy of 

the Reimbursement Action is contained in the Bond Transcript.  No portion of the net proceeds of the Bonds 

will be used to reimburse an expenditure paid by the Participant more than 60 days prior to the date the 

Reimbursement Action was passed.   

Section 5.9 Final Written Allocation.  The Participant agrees that its file of all Requisitions and 

supporting invoices provided to DNR pursuant to Article III will constitute the Participant’s Final Written 

Allocation of the application of proceeds of the Bonds to the Financed Facility.  The Participant may, with 

at least 60 days’ prior written notice to, and the written consent of DNR, deliver a revised Final Written 

Allocation to DNR if the revised Final Written Allocation is accompanied by an Opinion of Bond Counsel.  

However, no revised Final Written Allocation will be made more than 18 months following the later of 

(a) the date of the expenditure or (b) the date the Financed Facility was placed in service, unless an Opinion 

of Bond Counsel is delivered to DNR. 

Section 5.10 Hedge Bonds.  The Participant expects that at least 85% of the net sale proceeds 

of the Bonds will be used to carry out the governmental purpose of the Bonds within three years after the 

Issue Date. 

Section 5.11 Post-Issuance Compliance with Federal Tax Matters.  The Participant shall 

complete the Annual Compliance Checklist and deliver the Annual Compliance Checklist to the Authority 

Bond Compliance Officer in accordance with the Tax Compliance Procedure.  To the extent within its 

power and control, the Participant will take all action requested in writing by the Authority Bond 

Compliance Officer that is necessary to cause the interest on the Master Trust Bonds to remain excludable 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  

Section 5.12 Records. 

(a) The Participant recognizes that (i) investors purchase the Master Trust Bonds with the 

expectation that interest on the Master Trust Bonds is and will remain excludable from gross income for 

federal income tax purposes, (ii) the tax-exempt status of interest on the Master Trust Bonds depends in 

part on the accuracy of the Participant’s representations and the satisfaction of the Participant’s agreements 

contained in this Article, many of which relate to matters that will occur after the Issue Date, and (iii) as 

part of its ongoing tax-exempt bond audit program the Internal Revenue Service requires that records be 

created and maintained with respect to the following matters: 

(1) documentation evidencing the expenditure of the Bonds in sufficient detail to 

determine the date of the expenditure, the asset acquired or the purpose of the expenditure; 

(2) documentation evidencing the use of the Financed Facility by public and private 

persons (for example, copies of management contracts or leases); and 

(3) documentation evidencing all sources of payment or security for the Bonds. 



 

 

-19- 

(b) The Participant has procedures in place or will establish procedures to create and retain 

these records.  Unless otherwise specifically instructed in a written Opinion of Bond Counsel, the 

Participant will retain and maintain these records related to the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements until three 

years following the final maturity of (i) the Bonds or (ii) any obligation issued to refund the Bonds.  Any 

records maintained electronically must comply with Section 4.01 of Revenue Procedure 97-22, which 

generally provides that an electronic storage system must (1) ensure an accurate and complete transfer of 

the hardcopy records that indexes, stores, preserves, retrieves and reproduces the electronic records, 

(2) include reasonable controls to ensure integrity, accuracy and reliability of the electronic storage system 

and to prevent unauthorized alteration or deterioration of electronic records, (3) exhibit a high degree of 

legibility and readability both electronically and in hardcopy, (4) provide support for other books and 

records of the Participant, and (5) not be subject to any agreement that would limit the ability of the Internal 

Revenue Service to access and use the electronic storage system on the Participant’s premises. 

ARTICLE VI 

ASSIGNMENTS 

Section 6.1 Assignment by DNR.  The Participant acknowledges that DNR may assign the 

Bonds and its right, title and interest in this Agreement, in whole or in part, including the right to receive 

Bond Payments from the Participant, to the Authority or a bond trustee under the SRF Leveraged Program, 

to secure Master Trust Bonds or otherwise. 

Section 6.2 Assignment by the Participant. 

(a) The Participant may sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of the Project or any 

material part with an original value greater than $5,000 if it is replaced by other similar property of at least 

equal value or, if it ceases to be necessary for the efficient operation of the Project or the System, with the 

prior written consent of DNR.  In the event of sale, lease, mortgage or other disposition of the Project to a 

municipality, a county, a public sewer district, a public water supply district, a political subdivision of the 

State, an instrumentality of the State, or a combination of the same, the Participant will apply the proceeds 

to either (i) the redemption of Bonds in accordance with the provisions governing redemption of the Bonds 

in advance of maturity, or (ii) replacement of the property sold, leased, mortgaged or disposed of by other 

property the revenues of which are incorporated into the System.  In the event of sale, lease or other 

disposition of the Project to any other entity, the Participant will provide for the full redemption of the 

Bonds (regardless of the amount of the disposition proceeds).  If the Bonds are required to be redeemed as 

provided above, the proceeds of the sale, lease, mortgage or other disposition will be deposited into a 

separate escrow account to be established by the Participant with the Paying Agent pursuant to the 

defeasance provisions of the Ordinance or as otherwise directed in writing by DNR.  The Participant may 

cease to operate, abandon or otherwise dispose of any property that has become obsolete, unproductive or 

otherwise unusable to the advantage of the Participant. 

(b) The provisions of paragraph (a) will not prohibit, restrain or restrict any sale, lease or other 

disposition of any portion of the Project that has not been financed with Disbursements, if DNR and the 

Paying Agent have received an opinion of Bond Counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to them, that, 

if the portion of the System has been financed by an obligation of the Participant payable out of the 

Revenues, the obligation is permitted under the provisions of the Ordinance. 



 

 

-20- 

ARTICLE VII 

EVENTS OF DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 7.1 Events of Default.  Any of the following events will be an “Event of Default” under 

this Agreement: 

(a) failure by the Participant to pay, or cause to be paid, any Bond Payment required 

to be paid when due; 

(b) failure by the Participant to observe and perform any agreement under this 

Agreement or the Ordinance, other than as referred to in paragraph (a) of this Section, and the 

continuation of the failure for a period of 30 days after written notice is given pursuant to 

Section 7.2.  If the failure stated in the notice is correctable but cannot be corrected within the 

applicable period and corrective action is instituted and diligently pursued by the Participant, DNR 

may not unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension to the date that is 90 days after the 

delivery of the original notice; 

(c) any representation made by or on behalf of the Participant in this Agreement, the 

Ordinance, the Participant’s due diligence request form provided to DNR or in any instrument 

furnished in compliance with or with respect to this Agreement, is determined by DNR to be false 

or misleading in any material respect; 

(d) a petition is filed by or against the Participant under any federal or state bankruptcy 

or insolvency law or other similar law, unless any petition filed against the Participant is dismissed 

within 30 days after filing and the dismissal is final and not subject to appeal; and 

(e) the Participant generally fails to pay its debts as they become due. 

Section 7.2 Notice of Default.  The Participant will give DNR and the Paying Agent prompt 

telephonic notice of the occurrence of any Event of Default referred to in Section 7.1(d) or (e) and of the 

occurrence of any other event or condition that, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, would 

constitute an Event of Default.  Telephonic notice will be immediately followed by written notice of the 

Event of Default.  Notice of default given to the Participant will specify the event or condition, state that 

the event or condition constitutes an Event of Default if not remedied, and request that the event or condition 

be remedied.  Except as provided in the first sentence of this Section, notice will be given in the manner 

provided in Section 8.4. 

Section 7.3 Remedies on Default.  Whenever an Event of Default has occurred and is 

continuing, DNR will have the right to take whatever action at law or in equity as provided in Sections 901 

and 902 of the Ordinance, subject to the provisions of Section 202 of the Ordinance, and as otherwise 

provided by law, including, to the extent permitted by law, pursuant to Section 644.125 of the Revised 

Statutes of Missouri, as amended. 

Section 7.4 Attorneys’ Fees and Other Expenses. 

(a) Upon (i) an Event of Default or (ii) the occurrence and continuance of any event that, with 

the giving of notice, lapse of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default, the Participant, on demand, 

will pay to the Paying Agent and DNR the reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and other reasonable 

costs and expenses (including the reasonably allocated costs of in-house counsel and legal staff) incurred 



 

 

-21- 

by the Paying Agent and DNR in the collection of Bond Payments or the enforcement of any agreements 

of the Participant. 

(b) Prior to incurring any fees, costs and expenses pursuant to this Section, the Paying Agent 

and DNR will provide written notice to the Participant that it intends to incur fees, costs and expenses.  

Failure by the Paying Agent or DNR to give the notice will not affect the Paying Agent’s or DNR’s right 

to receive payment for attorneys’ fees and expenses under this Section 7.4.  Upon request by the Participant, 

the Paying Agent and DNR will provide the Participant with copies of statements evidencing the fees, costs 

and expenses for which the Paying Agent or DNR is requesting payment.  The statements may be edited to 

maintain the attorney-client privilege. 

Section 7.5 Application of Moneys.  Any moneys collected by the Paying Agent and DNR 

under Section 7.3 will be applied first, to pay interest on the Bonds then due and payable, second, to pay 

principal on the Bonds then due and payable, third, to pay the fees, costs and expenses owed by the 

Participant under Section 7.4, and fourth, to pay any other amounts due and payable under this Agreement. 

Section 7.6 No Remedy Exclusive; Waiver; Notice.  No remedy conferred upon or reserved to 

DNR or the Paying Agent is intended to be exclusive and every remedy is cumulative and in addition to 

every other remedy given under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity.  No delay or omission to 

exercise any right, remedy or power accruing upon any Event of Default will impair any right, remedy or 

power or will be construed as a waiver.  Any right, remedy or power may be exercised from time to time 

and as often as may be deemed expedient.  Neither the Paying Agent nor DNR are required to give notice 

to the Participant in advance of the exercise of any right, remedy or power reserved to them in this Article, 

except as expressly provided in this Article. 

ARTICLE VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 8.1 Continuing Disclosure. 

 

(a) For purposes of this Section 8.1, the following terms have the following meanings, in 

addition to capitalized terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement and the Ordinance: 

 

“Beneficial Owner” means any registered owner of Master Trust Bonds and any other 

person who, directly or indirectly, has the investment power with respect to any Master Trust 

Bonds. 

 

“Dissemination Agent” means the Master Trustee. 

 

“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system for municipal securities 

disclosures, which can be accessed at www.emma.msrb.org. 

 

“Financial Obligation” means a (a) debt obligation; (b) derivative instrument entered into 

in connection with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt 

obligation; or (c) guarantee of (a) or (b) in this definition; provided, however, the term “Financial 

Obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been 

provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule. 

  

“Material Participant” means the Participant if it has outstanding bonds purchased with 

proceeds of Master Trust Bonds and/or assigned by DNR to secure Master Trust Bonds in the 

http://www.emma.msrb.org/


 

 

-22- 

aggregate principal amount that constitutes 10% or more of the aggregate principal amount of all 

Master Trust Bonds outstanding as of each December 15 or to be outstanding upon the issuance of 

a series of Master Trust Bonds, with written notice given by the Authority to the Master Trustee by 

December 31 or 30 days after the issuance of the Master Trust Bonds, respectively. 

 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

 

“Rule” means Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

 

(b) If the Participant is notified by the Authority or the Master Trustee that the Participant is a 

Material Participant, the Participant will comply with the provisions of this Section 8.1. 

 

(i) The Material Participant will furnish to the Master Trustee: 

 

(A) within 30 days after notification that it is a Material Participant, a copy of 

its most recent financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America and audited by its independent auditors, 

and the operating data of the Material Participant, through the previous fiscal year, in 

substantially the scope and form contained in Appendix A to the official statement with 

respect to a series of Master Trust Bonds; and 

 

(B) within 180 days after the close of the fiscal year of the Material Participant 

following notification that it is a Material Participant and each subsequent fiscal year, a 

copy of the financial statements of the Material Participant prepared in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and audited by 

its independent auditors (or if not available as of that date, the unaudited financial 

statements of the Material Participant and, as soon thereafter as available, the audited 

financial statements of the Material Participant), and the operating data of the Material 

Participant, updated for the fiscal year then ended, in substantially the scope and form 

contained in Appendix A to the official statement with respect to a series of Master Trust 

Bonds. 

 

(ii) Any of the financial information or operating data required by this paragraph (b) 

may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including official statements of the 

Material Participant’s debt issues that have been filed with the MSRB, through EMMA, or the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, and in the case of a final official statement, that is available 

from the MSRB.  The Material Participant will clearly identify in each annual report submitted to 

the Master Trustee each document incorporated by reference and the source from which it is 

available. 

 

(c) No later than 10 Business Days after the occurrence of any of the following events, the 

Material Participant will disseminate to the Master Trustee and the Authority notice of the occurrence of 

any of the following events with respect to the Bonds or the System (“Material Events”): 

 

(1) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

 

(2) non-payment related defaults, if material; 

 

(3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

 



 

 

-23- 

(4) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

 

(5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

 

(6) adverse tax opinions; the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 

final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) 

or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the 

Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds or Master 

Trust Bonds, proceeds of which have been allocated to the Bonds; 

 

(7) modifications to rights of bondholders, if material; 

 

(8) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

 

(9) defeasances; 

 

(10) release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if 

material; 

 

(11) rating changes; 

 

(12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Material Participant; 

 

(13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the System 

or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the System, other than in the 

ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such 

an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, 

other than pursuant to its terms, if material;  

 

(14) appointment of a successor or additional paying agent or the change of name of 

the paying agent, if material;  

 

(15) incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the Material Participant, if material, or 

agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar 

terms of a Financial Obligation of the Material Participant, any of which affect 

security holders, if material; and 

 

(16) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 

similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the Material Participant, 

any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

 

(d) The Material Participant’s obligations under paragraphs (b) and (c) will terminate upon the 

Material Participant’s receipt of a notification from the Authority or the Master Trustee that the Material 

Participant is no longer a Material Participant. 

 

(e) The sole remedies for a failure to comply with the provisions of this Section 8.1 are specific 

enforcement or action in mandamus in a court of equity by any Beneficial Owner. 

 

(f) Nothing in this Section prevents the Material Participant from disseminating any additional 

information, or including any other information in any report or notice made under this Section, in addition 

to that required by this Section.  If the Material Participant chooses to include any information in any report 



 

 

-24- 

or notice made under this Section in addition to that which is specifically required by this Section, the 

Material Participant will have no obligation to update the additional information or include it in any future 

report or notice. 

 

Section 8.2 Effect of Breach.  Failure on the part of DNR in any instance or under any 

circumstances to observe or fully perform any obligation assumed by or imposed upon it by this Agreement 

or by law will not make DNR liable in damages to the Participant or relieve the Participant from making 

any payment to DNR or fully performing any other agreement under this Agreement.  The Participant may 

have and pursue any other remedies provided by law for compelling performance by DNR of any agreement 

of DNR. 

Section 8.3 Termination of Agreement.  This Agreement will terminate upon the payment in 

full of the Bonds under the Ordinance and the transfer of balances as set forth in Section 4.3. 

Section 8.4 Notices.  All notices, filings and other communications will be given by first class 

mail, postage pre-paid, or sent by telegram, telecopy or telex or other similar communication or delivered 

by a reputable private courier or overnight delivery service, addressed as follows; provided, however, that 

notice to the Paying Agent shall be effective only upon receipt: 

Participant: 

City of Carthage, Missouri 

326 Grant Street 

Carthage, Missouri 64836 

Attention:  City Administrator 

 

DNR: 

General 

Missouri Department of Natural Resources 

Water Protection Program 

P.O. Box 176 (Zip Code 65102) 

1101 Riverside Drive 

Jefferson City, Missouri 65101 

Attention:  Director, Financial Assistance Center 

For Requisitions: 

Missouri Department of Natural Resources 

Water Protection Program 

P.O. Box 176 (Zip Code 65102) 

1101 Riverside Drive 

Jefferson City, Missouri 65101 

Attention:  Financial Assistance Center 

Paying Agent: 

UMB Bank, N.A. 

2 South Broadway, Suite 600 

St. Louis, Missouri 63102 

Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

 

Each party may change its address by giving written notice of the new address to the other parties. 



 

 

-25- 

Section 8.5 Exculpatory Provision.  In exercising powers under this Agreement, the Paying 

Agent, the Participant and DNR and their members, directors, officers, employees and agents will not be 

liable to any other party to this Agreement (a) for any actions taken or omitted by it or its members, officers, 

directors, employees or agents in good faith and believed by it or them to be authorized or within their 

discretion or rights or powers conferred upon them, or (b) for any claims based on this Agreement against 

any member, director, officer, employee or agent of the Paying Agent, the Participant or DNR in his or her 

individual capacity. 

Section 8.6 Amendment.  This Agreement may be amended or supplemented by a written 

instrument executed by the parties, subject to the requirements of the Federal Act and regulatory authority 

of EPA that The Water and Wastewater Loan Fund be operated in a manner that preserves The Water and 

Wastewater Loan Fund in perpetuity for its designated purposes and to provide necessary and ongoing 

assistance to communities to attain and maintain compliance with the Federal Act. 

Section 8.7 Electronic Transactions.  The transactions described in this Agreement may be 

conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means.  Copies, telecopies, 

facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be deemed to be 

authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any 

claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 

Section 8.8 Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any agreement provided in this Agreement 

is contrary to law, that agreement will be severable from the remaining agreements and will not affect the 

validity of the other provisions of this Agreement. 

Section 8.9 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which will be regarded for all purposes as one original and constitute one and the 

same instrument. 

Section 8.10 Applicable Law.  This Agreement will be governed exclusively by the laws of the 

State. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

 S-1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be signed by their 

duly authorized officers or signatories and dated as of the day and year first above written. 

 

MISSOURI DEPARTMENT  

OF NATURAL RESOURCES 

 

 

 

 By:   

Authorized Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[Carthage - Purchase Agreement]



 

 S-2 

 CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

 

 

  

Mayor 

(SEAL) 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

City Clerk 

 

 

 

Taxpayer Identification No.:  44-6000157 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Carthage - Purchase Agreement]



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

  

MISSOURI DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, WATER PROTECTION PROGRAM, FAC
REIMBURSEMENT FORM

SRF DIRECT LOAN

  1.  TYPE OF REQUEST:   ____ PARTIAL   ____ FINAL   3.  PAYMENT REQUEST NUMBER:  _________      PAGE 1 OF _____

  2.  PROJECT NUMBER: C295809-01   4.  PERIOD COVERED BY THIS REPORT:

    FROM: _____________________      TO: ______________________

  5.  RECIPIENT ORGANIZATION:   6.  LOAN TRUSTEE:

CITY OF CARTHAGE      UMB BANK, NA

326 GRANT STREET      IN TRUST FOR CARTHAGE C295809-01

CARTHAGE, MO 64836-1632      2 S. BROADWAY, SUITE 600

     ST. LOUIS, MO  63102

  7.  ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS INCURRED (EXCLUDING RETAINAGE)

Recipient Project Name and Number Current Period     Cumulative Office Use Only

Show construction, engineering, administrative costs, etc.

  A.

  B.

  C.

  D.

  E.

  F.

  G.

  H.

  I.

  J.

  K.

  L.

  Z.  Total from continuation sheet (lines 7.M. - 7.Y.)

  AA.  Eligible costs incurred to date

BB. TOTAL APPROVED ELIGIBLE COSTS TO DATE:   BB.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY CC. LESS AMOUNT PREVIOUSLY APPROVED:   CC.

DD. AMOUNT PAYABLE TO RECIPIENT (ACTUAL REIMBURSEMENT AMOUNT):   DD.

  8.  CERTIFICATION:     SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE:

By signing this reimbursement form, I certify RECIPIENT:

that to the best of my knowledge and belief:     DATE SIGNED:     PHONE NUMBER:

1)  Billed costs or disbursements are in

accordance with the terms of the project;     TYPED OR PRINTED NAME:

2)  Payment due represents the amount due

which has not been previously requested;     SIGNATURE OF REVIEW OFFICIAL:

3)  An inspection has been performed; and DNR REVIEWER:

Office Use Only     DATE SIGNED:

4)  All work is in accordance with the terms

of the funding agreement.

    TYPED OR PRINTED NAME AND TITLE:

DNR-WPP-FAC, SRF



 

A-2 

 

  

 

 

PAGE ________ OF _________

  2.  PROJECT NUMBER: C295809-01   4.  PERIOD COVERED BY THIS REPORT:

    FROM: _____________________      TO: ______________________

  5.  RECIPIENT ORGANIZATION:   6.  LOAN TRUSTEE:

CITY OF CARTHAGE      UMB BANK, NA

326 GRANT STREET      IN TRUST FOR CARTHAGE

CARTHAGE, MO 64836-1632      2 S. BROADWAY, SUITE 600 C295809-01

     ST. LOUIS, MO  63102

  7.  ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS INCURRED (EXCLUDING RETAINAGE)

Recipient Project Number and Name Current Period     Cumulative Office Use Only

Show construction, engineering, administrative costs, etc.

  M.

  N.

  O.

  P. 

  Q.

  R.

  S.

  T.

  U.

  V.

  W.

  X.

  Y.

DNR-WPP-FAC, SRF

MISSOURI DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, WATER PROTECTION PROGRAM, FAC

REIMBURSEMENT FORM

SRF DIRECT LOAN
CONTINUATION PAGE



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

Federal Requirements  

 Federal Funding and Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA): Federal Law - Federal Funding 

Accountability and Transparency Act enacted 2010.  

 Davis-Bacon Act: Act of 1931 applied in 1987-1994, made permanent by the Water Resources Reform 

and Development Act (WRRDA) of 2014.  

 American Iron & Steel.  

 Architectural and Engineering Procurement.  

 Cost & Effectiveness, Water Resources Reform and Development Act (WRRDA) of 2014: Applies to 

Clean Water SRF projects only.  

 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Guidance for Enhancing Public Awareness of State Revolving 

Fund Assistance Agreements (15-02) in 2015.    

 Water Systems Assessment, Safe Drinking Water Act Amendments in 2017 Water Infrastructure 

Improvements for the Nation Act (WIIN): Applies to Drinking Water SRF only.   

 Single Audit Act of 1984; Federal Regulation: Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-

128, Audits of State and Local Governments, State or local government (loan recipients) that expend 

more than $750,000 of federal funds in a year must complete an organization-wide audit within nine 

months of the end of the fiscal year.  

 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE), Carried over from the Construction Grants Program U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency (40 Congressional Federal Registry Parts 30, 31, 33, 35 and 40). 

 National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1970. 

 

 “Super” (Socioeconomic) Cross-Cutters 

 Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title VI: Pub. L. 88-352: Prohibits racial discrimination. 

 Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 1972 Amendments, Section 13: Pub. L. 92-500: Prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of sex, racial, or other discrimination in implementing the law. 

 Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504: Pub. L. 93-112: Prohibits discrimination against a qualified 

individual with a physical or mental disability who is otherwise qualified and can perform essential job 

functions. 

 Age Discrimination Act of 1975: Prohibits discrimination based on age. 

Environmental Cross Cutters 

 Clean Water Act, Titles III, IV and V: Pub. L. 92-500, as amended: Regulates discharges of pollutants 

into the waters of the United States                                                                                                

 Safe Drinking Water Act: Pub L. 93-523, as amended: Protects public drinking water supplies  

 Endangered Species Act: Pub. L. 93-205, as amended: Protects and recovers imperiled species and the 

ecosystems upon which they depend.                                                                                                                            

 Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act: Pub. L. 85-624, as amended: Protects fish and wildlife when 

federal actions result in the control or modification of a natural stream or body of water. 

 Magnuson-Stevens Act – Essential Fish Habitat: Pub. L. 94-265: Fosters long-term biological and 

economic sustainability of our nation's marine fisheries out to 200 nautical miles from shore. 



 

B-2 

 Coastal Zone Management Act: Pub. L. 92-583, as amended: Preserve, protect, develop, and where 

possible, to restore or enhance the resources of the nation’s coastal zone. 

 Coastal Barrier Resources Act: Pub. L. 97-348: Protects coastal areas that serve as barriers against wind 

and tidal forces caused by coastal storms, and serve as habitat for aquatic species. 

 Wild and Scenic Rivers Act: Pub. L. 90-54: Preserves certain rivers with outstanding natural, cultural, 

and recreational values in a free-flowing condition. 

 Protection of Wetlands Executive Order: Executive Order 11990 as amended by Executive Order 

12608: Avoids the long and short-term adverse impacts associated with the destruction or modification 

of wetlands and to avoid direct or indirect support of new construction in wetlands wherever there is a 

practicable alternative.  

 Clean Air Act: Pub. L. 95-95, as amended: Controls air pollution. 

 Migratory Bird Act: 16 U.S. Code § 703: Protects migratory birds 

 Floodplain Management, Executive Order 11988, Improve the nation’s resilience to flooding and 

prepare the nation for the impacts of climate change. 

 Farmland Protection Policy Act: Pub. L. 97-98: Federal programs are administered to be compatible 

with programs and policies to protect to protect  

 National Historic Preservation Act: Pub. L. 89-655, as amended: Supports historic preservation 

activities and programs, and includes Section 106, which requires State Tribal and Local Historic 

Preservation programs be provided the opportunity to comment on undertakings that have an effect on 

a historic property. 

 Archeological and Historic Preservation Act, Pub. L. 93-291, as amended: Provides for the preservation 

of historical and archeological data (including relics and specimens) which might otherwise be 

irreparably lost or destroyed as the result of alteration of terrain caused as a result of a federal 

construction project. 

 Environmental Justice Executive Order: Executive Order 12898: Focuses federal attention on the 

environmental and human health effects of federal actions on minority and low-income populations 

with the goal of achieving environmental protection for all communities. 

Economic and Other Cross Cutters 

 Demonstration Cities and Metropolitan Development Act: Pub. L. 89 -754, as amended and Executive 

Order 12372: Promotes planning that provide decent housing, a suitable living environment, and 

expand economic opportunities for low and moderate income persons 

 Procurement Prohibition under Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act: Prohibition of Clean Water Act or 

Clean Air Act with respect to federal contracts, grants, or loans under Section 306 of the Clean Air Act 

and Section 508 of the Clean Water Act, and Executive Order 11738: Federal procurement or 

procurement  with federal grant, loan, or contract shall undertake such procurement and assistance 

activities in a manner that will result in effective enforcement of the Clean Air Act and the Federal 

Water Pollution Control Act  

 Uniform relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act: Pub. L. 91-646, as amended, and 42 

U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.: Ensures fair treatment of those displaced by federally funded programs, federally 

assisted programs or state and local agencies receiving federal funds  

 Drug-Free Workplace Act: Pub. L. 100-690: As a recipient organization, the Department must make 

an ongoing, good faith effort to maintain a drug-free workplace and identify all known workplaces 

under its federal awards and maintain records pursuant to Title 2 CFR Part 1536 Subpart B. 



 

B-3 

 Debarment and Suspension Executive Order 12549: A person who is debarred or suspended is excluded 

from activities involving federal financial assistance.  

 Preservation of Open Competition / Neutrality to Labor Relations on Federal Funded Projects: 

Executive Order 13202 and 13208: Promotes open competition on Federal and federally funded or 

assisted construction projects. 

 New Restrictions on Lobbying, Section 319 of Pub. L. 101-121: Recipients of federal grants, 

cooperative agreements, contracts, and loans are prohibited from using federal funds for lobbying. 

 
 



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INITIAL FORM OF ANNUAL COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST 
 

Name of Participant: City of Carthage, Missouri 

Name of bonds (“Bonds”) financing the 

Financed Facility: 

Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System 

Revenue Bonds (State of Missouri – Direct Loan 

Program) Series 2019 

Financed Facility: 

[NOTE:  Insert definition of “Project” as set forth 

in the Purchase Agreement, as modified, amended 

and supplemented] 

 

 

      

Issue Date of Bonds:  

Placed in service date of the Financed Facility:       

Name of Bond Compliance Officer:       

Fiscal Year covered by request  

(“Annual Period”): 

 

 

Item Question Response 

1 

Ownership 

Was all of the Financed Facility owned by the Participant 

during the entire Annual Period? 

  

 Yes 

 No 

 If answer above was “No,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to the transfer? 

 

If Yes, provide a copy of the Opinion to the Authority Bond 

Compliance Officer and include a copy of the Opinion in the 

Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 

   

2 

Leases and 

Other Rights 

to Possession 

During the Annual Period, was any of the Financed Facility or 

any part thereof leased at any time pursuant to a lease or similar 

agreement for more than 50 days (for example, an agreement 

permitting a cell phone tower to be erected on a bond-financed 

water tower)? 

 

 Yes 

 No 

 If answer above was “Yes,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to entering into the lease or other arrangement?   

 

If Yes, provide a copy of the Opinion to the Authority Bond 

Compliance Officer and include a copy of the Opinion in the 

Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 



 

C-2 

Item Question Response 

3 

Management 

or Service 

Agreements 

During the Annual Period, has the Participant entered into an 

agreement with another entity to manage the operation of the 

Financed Facility?  (for example, does a private entity operate 

the System on behalf of the Participant) 

 

 Yes 

 No 

 

 If answer above was “Yes,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to entering into a management agreement?   

 

If Yes, provide a copy of the Opinion to the Authority Bond 

Compliance Officer and include a copy of the Opinion in the 

Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 

   

4 

Other Use 

Was any agreement entered into with an individual or entity 

that grants special legal rights to the Financed Facility? 

 

 Yes 

 No 

 If answer above was “Yes,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to entering into the agreement? 

 

If Yes, provide a copy of the Opinion to the Authority Bond 

Compliance Officer and include a copy of the Opinion in the 

Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 

 

Participant Bond Compliance Officer:  ______________________________ 

 

Date:  ______________________________ 

 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

AUTHORITY’S TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 



 

July 25, 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

STATE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT AND 

ENERGY RESOURCES AUTHORITY 

 

 

STATE REVOLVING FUNDS PROGRAMS 

TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

Dated as of July 25, 2013 

 

___________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

(i)  

July 25, 2013 

STATE REVOLVING FUNDS PROGRAMS 

TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Definitions ......................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE II 

PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

Section 2.1. Purpose of Compliance Procedure ..................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.2. Scope of Compliance Procedure; Conflicts ....................................................................... 5 
Section 2.3. Amendments and Publication of Compliance Procedure .................................................. 5 

ARTICLE III 

BOND COMPLIANCE OFFICER; TRAINING 

Section 3.1. Bond Compliance Officer Duties ....................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.2. Training .............................................................................................................................. 6 

ARTICLE IV 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR PARTICIPANT LOANS CURRENTLY OUTSTANDING 

Section 4.1. Tax-Exempt Bonds Covered by Article IV Procedures ..................................................... 6 
Section 4.2. Participant Contact ............................................................................................................. 6 
Section 4.3. Annual Certification .......................................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.4. Correcting Prior Deficiencies in Compliance .................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE V 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR NEW PARTICIPANT LOANS 

Section 5.1. Application......................................................................................................................... 7 
Section 5.2. Prior to Issuance of Tax-Exempt Bonds ............................................................................ 7 
Section 5.3. Final Written Allocation of Participant Loan Proceeds ..................................................... 7 
Section 5.4. Participant Annual Compliance Checklists; Reviews ........................................................ 7 

ARTICLE VI 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR TAX-EXEMPT BONDS CURRENTLY OUTSTANDING 

Section 6.1. Tax-Exempt Bonds Covered by Article IV Procedures ..................................................... 8 
Section 6.2. Tax-Exempt Bond File; Annual Compliance Checklists ................................................... 8 



 

(ii)  

July 25, 2013 

Section 6.3. Correcting Prior Deficiencies in Compliance .................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE VII 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR NEW TAX-EXEMPT BOND ISSUES 

Section 7.1. Application......................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 7.2. Prior to Issuance of Tax-Exempt Bonds ............................................................................ 8 
Section 7.3. Accounting and Recordkeeping ......................................................................................... 9 
Section 7.4. Final Allocation of Bond Proceeds .................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE VIII 

ONGOING MONITORING PROCEDURES 

Section 8.1. Annual Compliance Checklist ......................................................................................... 10 
Section 8.2. Arbitrage and Rebate Compliance ................................................................................... 10 
 

Exhibit A – List of Tax-Exempt Bonds Covered by this Compliance Procedure 

Exhibit B – Sample Annual Compliance Checklist (Authority) 

Exhibit C – Sample Annual Compliance Checklist (Participant) 

 



 

 

STATE REVOLVING FUNDS PROGRAMS 

TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1. Definitions.  Capitalized words and terms used in this Compliance Procedure have 

the following meanings: 

 

“Authority Annual Compliance Checklist” means a questionnaire and/or checklist described in 

Section 6.2 and in the form attached as Exhibit B, or any replacement form as requested by Bond Counsel 

and approved by the Bond Compliance Officer, to be completed each year by the Bond Compliance Officer. 

 

“Authority” means the State Environmental Improvement and Energy Resources Authority, a 

body corporate and politic and a governmental instrumentality of the State of Missouri. 

 

“Bond Compliance Officer” means the Authority’s Deputy Director or, if the position of Deputy 

Director is vacant, the person filling the responsibilities of the Deputy Director for the Authority. 

 

“Bond Counsel” means a law firm selected by the Authority to provide a legal opinion regarding 

the tax status of interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds as of the issue date or the law firm selected to advise the 

Authority on matters referenced in this Compliance Procedure. 

 

“Bond Restricted Funds” means the funds, accounts, and investments that are subject to arbitrage 

rebate and/or yield restriction rules that have been identified in the Tax Compliance Agreement for the Tax-

Exempt Bonds. 

 

“Bond Transcript” means the “transcript of proceedings” or other similarly titled set of transaction 

documents assembled by Bond Counsel following the issuance of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

“Clean Water Commission” means the Clean Water Commission of the State of Missouri. 

 

“Clean Water Loan” means a loan made to Clean Water Participants pursuant to the Clean Water 

SRF Direct Loan Program or the Clean Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program.  

 

“Clean Water Participant” means a Missouri governmental entity that participates in the Clean 

Water SRF Direct Loan Program or the Clean Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program. 

 

“Clean Water SRF Direct Loan Program” means DNR’s State of Missouri Direct Loan Program 

created in cooperation with the Clean Water Commission to provide financial assistance to Clean Water 

Participants to finance publicly owned wastewater treatment and sanitary sewerage facilities. 

 

“Clean Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program” means the Missouri Leveraged State Clean Water 

Revolving Fund Program created by cooperative agreement among the Authority, DNR and the Clean Water 

Commission to provide financial assistance to Clean Water Participants to finance publicly owned 

wastewater treatment and sanitary sewerage facilities. 

 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 



 

2 

July 25, 2013 

“Compliance Procedure” means this State Revolving Funds Programs Tax Compliance 

Procedure. 

 

“Cost” or “Costs” means all costs and expenses paid for the acquisition, design, construction, 

equipping or improvement of a Financed Facility or costs of issuing Tax-Exempt Bonds for a Financed 

Facility. 

 

“DNR” means the Missouri Department of Natural Resources, a department of the State of 

Missouri. 

 

“Drinking Water Commission” means the Safe Drinking Water Commission of the State of 

Missouri. 

 

“Drinking Water Loan” means a loan made to a Drinking Water Participant pursuant to the 

Drinking Water SRF Direct Loan Program or the Drinking Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program.  

 

“Drinking Water Participant” means s Missouri governmental entity or nonprofit corporation 

that participates in the Drinking Water SRF Direct Loan Program or the Drinking Water SRF Leveraged 

Loan Program. 

 

“Drinking Water SRF Direct Loan Program” means DNR’s State of Missouri Direct Loan 

Program created in cooperation with the Drinking Water Commission to provide financial assistance to 

Drinking Water Participants to finance publicly and privately owned drinking water treatment facilities. 

 

“Drinking Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program” means the Missouri Leveraged State Drinking 

Water Revolving Fund Program created by cooperative agreement among the Authority, DNR and the Safe 

Drinking Water Commission to provide financial assistance to Drinking Water Participants to finance 

publicly and privately owned drinking water treatment facilities. 

 

“Final Written Allocation” means the Final Written Allocation of Tax-Exempt Bond proceeds 

pursuant to Section 7.4 or of Participant Loan proceeds pursuant to Section 5.3. 

 

“Financed Facility” means that part of a Project Facility treated as financed with proceeds of a 

Participant Loan as reflected in a Final Written Allocation or, if no Final Written Allocation was prepared,  

the accounting records of the Trustee, the Authority or the Participant, as the case may be, and the Tax 

Compliance Agreement for the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

“Intent Resolution” means a resolution of the Authority or the Participant stating (1) the intent of 

the Authority or the Participant to finance all or a portion of the Project Facility, (2) the expected maximum 

size of the financing, and (3) the intent of the Authority or Participant to reimburse Costs of the Project 

Facility paid by the Authority or the Participant from proceeds of a Tax-Exempt Bond. 

 

“IRS” means the Internal Revenue Service. 

 

“Participant” means a Clean Water Participant or a Drinking Water Participant. 

 

“Participant Annual Compliance Checklist” means a questionnaire and/or checklist described in 

Section 5.4 and in the form attached as Exhibit C, or any replacement form as requested by Bond Counsel 

and approved by the Bond Compliance Officer, which is completed each year by a Participant. 

 



 

3 

July 25, 2013 

“Participant Bond Compliance Officer” means the individual officer or employee of the 

Participant named as the primary individual responsible for post-issuance tax compliance by the Participant 

in connection with its Participant Loan. 

 

“Participant Closing Certificate” means the closing certificate executed by the Participant in 

connection with the closing of the Participant Loan. 

 

“Participant Loan” means a Clean Water Loan or a Drinking Water Loan. 

 

“Placed In Service” means the date when the Project Facility is substantially complete and in 

operation at substantially its design level, as determined by the Participant Bond Compliance Officer or, in 

the absence of appropriate action by the Participant Bond Compliance Officer, by [DNR][the Bond 

Compliance Officer in consultation with DNR]. 

 

“Project Facility” means all tangible or intangible property financed in whole or in part with 

proceeds of a Participant Loan that are (1) functionally related or integrated in use, (2) located on the same 

physical site or proximate sites, and (3) expected to be Placed In Service within a one-year period of each 

other. 

 

“Rebate Analyst” means the rebate analyst for the Tax-Exempt Bonds selected pursuant to the Tax 

Compliance Agreement. 

 

“Regulations” means all regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department to implement the 

provisions of Code §§ 103 and 141 through 150 and applicable to tax-exempt obligations. 

 

“Requisition” means a Clean Water Reimbursement Form or Drinking Water Reimbursement 

Form, submitted by a Participant and approved by DNR for each disbursement of Participant Loan 

proceeds. 

 

“State Revolving Funds Programs” means, collectively, the Clean Water SRF Direct Loan 

Program, the Clean Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program, the Drinking Water SRF Direct Loan Program 

and the Drinking Water SRF Leveraged Loan Program. 

 

“Tax Compliance Agreement” means a Federal Tax Certificate, Tax Compliance Agreement, 

Arbitrage Agreement, or other written certification or agreement of the Authority or the Participant 

(including Article V or similar article of a Purchase Agreement between the Participant and DNR or Exhibit 

to a Participant Closing Certificate), setting out representations and covenants for satisfying the post-

issuance tax compliance requirements for the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

“Tax-Exempt Bonds” means any bond, note, installment sale agreement, lease or certificate 

intended to be a debt obligation of the Authority, the proceeds of which are to be loaned or otherwise made 

available to DNR to finance Participant Loans, and the interest on which is excludable from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes.  A list of all Tax-Exempt Bonds outstanding and subject to this Compliance 

Procedure as of July 1, 2013, is attached as Exhibit A. 

 

“Tax-Exempt Bond File” means documents and records which may consist of paper and electronic 

medium, maintained for the Tax-Exempt Bonds.  Each Tax-Exempt Bond File will include the following 

information if applicable:  

 

(a) Intent Resolution. (Duplicate Copy Maintained by Bond Compliance Officer) 

(b) Bond Transcript. (Duplicate Copy Maintained by Bond Compliance Officer) 



 

4 

July 25, 2013 

(c) For each Participant Loan, a Final Written Allocation and/or all available 

accounting records related to the Financed Facility showing expenditures 

allocated to the proceeds of the Participant Loan and expenditures (if any) 

allocated to other sources of funds. 

(d) All rebate and yield reduction payment calculations performed by the Rebate 

Analyst and all investment records provided to the Rebate Analyst for purposes of 

preparing the calculations. 

(e) Forms 8038-T together with proof of filing and payment of rebate.  (Duplicate 

Copy Maintained by Bond Compliance Officer) 

(f) Investment agreement bid documents (unless included in the Bond Transcript) 

including: 

(1) bid solicitation, bid responses, certificate of broker; 

(2) written summary of reasons for deviations from the terms of the 

solicitation that are incorporated into the investment agreement; and 

(3) copies of the investment agreement and any amendments. 

(g) Any item required to be maintained by the terms of the Tax Compliance 

Agreement and Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement involving the use of the 

Financed Facility or expenditures related to tax compliance for the Tax-Exempt 

Bonds. 

(h) Any opinion of Bond Counsel regarding the Tax-Exempt Bonds not included in 

the Bond Transcript.  (Duplicate Copy Maintained by Bond Compliance Officer) 

(i) Amendments, modifications or substitute agreements to any agreement contained 

in the Bond Transcript.  (Duplicate Copy Maintained by Bond Compliance 

Officer) 

(j) Any correspondence with the IRS relating to the Tax-Exempt Bonds including all 

correspondence relating to an audit by the IRS of the Tax-Exempt Bonds or any 

proceedings under the Tax-Exempt Bonds Voluntary Closing Agreement Program 

(VCAP).  (Duplicate Copy Maintained by Bond Compliance Officer) 

(k) All completed Authority Annual Compliance Checklists and Participant Annual 

Compliance Checklists and any other questionnaires or correspondence 

substantiating compliance with the post-issuance tax requirements. 

(l) For refunding bond issues, the Tax-Exempt Bond File for the refunded Tax-

Exempt Bonds. 

 

“Trustee” means the corporate trustee named in a trust indenture or other similar document 

included in the Bond Transcript for the Tax-Exempt Bonds or the “Paying Agent” within the meaning of 

the documents executed by a Participant, DNR and the Paying Agent in connection with a Participant Loan 

made under the Clean Water SRF Direct Loan Program or the Drinking Water SRF Direct Loan Program. 

 

ARTICLE II   

 

PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

 

Section 2.1. Purpose of Compliance Procedure. 

 

(a) Authority’s Use of Tax-Exempt Bonds.  The Authority issues Tax-Exempt Bonds and 

funds Participant Loans or makes the proceeds available to DNR to fund, or reimburse DNR for funding 

of, certain Participant Loans, the proceeds of which finance Costs of a Project Facility.  The Authority 

understands that in exchange for the right to issue Tax-Exempt Bonds at favorable interest rates and terms, 

the Code and Regulations impose ongoing requirements related to the proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds 

and the Financed Facility financed by the Tax-Exempt Bonds.  These requirements focus on the investment, 



 

5 

July 25, 2013 

use and expenditure of proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds and related funds as well as restrictions on the 

use of the Project Facility. 

 

(b) IRS Recommends Separate Written Procedures.  The Authority recognizes that the IRS has 

stated that all issuers of Tax-Exempt Bonds should have separate written procedures regarding ongoing 

compliance with the federal tax requirements for Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

(c) Authority Commitment.  The Authority is committed to full compliance with the federal 

tax law requirements for all of its outstanding and future issues of Tax-Exempt Bonds.  This Compliance 

Procedure is adopted by the Authority to comply with IRS directives and to improve federal tax law 

compliance and documentation.  Because each Participant is primarily responsible for the expenditure and 

investment of proceeds of its Participant Loan and the use of its Project Facility, this Compliance Procedure 

provides that each Participant will assume substantially all obligations related to post-issuance compliance 

for its Participant Loan.  The Authority will assume responsibility for annually monitoring each 

Participant’s compliance with the post-issuance tax requirements through use of the Participant Annual 

Compliance Checklists.  The Authority will assume responsibility for ensuring compliance with the 

remaining post-issuance tax requirements for all Tax-Exempt Bonds primarily consisting of compliance 

with the arbitrage and rebate requirements. 

 

Section 2.2. Scope of Compliance Procedure; Conflicts.  This Compliance Procedure applies 

to all Participant Loans, both currently outstanding and issued in the future, and all Tax-Exempt Bonds, 

both currently outstanding and issued in the future.  If the provisions of this Compliance Procedure conflict 

with a Tax Compliance Agreement or any specific written instructions of Bond Counsel, the terms of the 

Tax Compliance Agreement or specific written instructions of Bond Counsel will supersede and govern in 

lieu of this Compliance Procedure.  Any exception to this Compliance Procedure required by Bond Counsel 

as part of a future issue of Tax-Exempt Bonds will be incorporated in the Tax Compliance Agreement for 

the future issue.  Any requirements imposed on the Authority or a Participant in the Tax Compliance 

Agreement will be noted by the Bond Compliance Officer and incorporated into the Authority Annual 

Compliance Checklist and/or the Participant Annual Compliance Checklist.   

 

Section 2.3. Amendments and Publication of Compliance Procedure.  This Compliance 

Procedure may be amended from time-to-time by the Authority.  Copies of this Compliance Procedure and 

any amendments will be included in the permanent records of the Authority.  

 

 ARTICLE III 

 

BOND COMPLIANCE OFFICER; TRAINING 

 

Section 3.1. Bond Compliance Officer Duties.  The Bond Compliance Officer is responsible 

for implementing this Compliance Procedure.  The Bond Compliance Officer will work with the 

Participants through each Participant Bond Compliance Officer, DNR and the Trustee to assist in 

implementing this Compliance Procedure.  The Bond Compliance Officer will consult with Participants, 

DNR, Bond Counsel, legal counsel to the Authority, accountants, tax return preparers and other outside 

experts to the extent necessary to carry out the purposes of this Compliance Procedure.  The Bond 

Compliance Officer will report to the Authority as necessary, and at least annually, regarding 

implementation of this Compliance Procedure and any recommended changes or amendments to this 

Compliance Procedure. 

 



 

6 

July 25, 2013 

Section 3.2. Training.   

 

(a) Training Programs.  When appropriate, the Bond Compliance Officer and/or other 

employees of the Authority under the direction of the Bond Compliance Officer will attend training 

programs offered by the IRS or other industry professionals regarding Tax-Exempt Bonds that are relevant 

to the Authority. 

 

(b) Change in Bond Compliance Officer.  Any time an individual acting as the Bond 

Compliance Officer passes the responsibilities for carrying out the provisions of this Compliance Procedure 

to another individual, the Authority will ensure the incoming individual acting as Bond Compliance Officer 

is trained on how to implement the policies and procedures included in this Compliance Procedure to ensure 

the Authority’s continued compliance with the provisions of this Compliance Procedure and all Tax 

Compliance Agreements for any outstanding Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

 ARTICLE IV 

 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR PARTICIPANT LOANS CURRENTLY OUTSTANDING 

 

Section 4.1. Participant Loans Covered by Article IV Procedures.  This Article IV applies 

to all Participant Loans issued prior to the date of this Compliance Procedure that are currently outstanding. 

 

Section 4.2. Participant Contact.  As soon as reasonably practical the Bond Compliance 

Officer will send to each Participant a copy of the Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement along with a 

letter reminding the Participant that pursuant to the Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement the Participant 

is responsible for post-issuance tax compliance related to record keeping, use of Participant Loan proceeds, 

and use of the Financed Facility. 

 

Section 4.3. Annual Certification From Each Participant.  As soon as practical following 

the adoption of this Compliance Procedure, the Bond Compliance Officer will request each Participant to 

confirm annually in writing its compliance with the terms of the Participant’s Closing Certificate for the 

Participant Loan through use of a Participant Annual Compliance Checklist.   The Bond Compliance Officer 

will use reasonable efforts to obtain a completed Participant Annual Compliance Checklist from each 

Participant and will retain the completed Participant Annual Compliance Checklist in the Tax-Exempt Bond 

File for the longer of the term of the Participant Loan or the Tax-Exempt Bond allocable to financing the 

Participant Loan (if any) plus three years.  

 

Section 4.4. Correcting Prior Deficiencies in Compliance.  If a Participant informs the Bond 

Compliance Officer of a deficiency in compliance with Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement for an 

outstanding Participant Loan allocable to an outstanding Tax-Exempt Bond listed on Exhibit A, the Bond 

Compliance Officer will consult with Bond Counsel and, as necessary or appropriate, follow the procedures 

described in the Regulations or the Tax-Exempt Bonds Voluntary Closing Agreement Program (VCAP) to 

remediate the noncompliance.  If remediation of the noncompliance requires the Authority to submit a 

request under VCAP, the Bond Compliance Officer will undertake this step only after reporting the 

violation to the Director of the Authority and obtaining the approval of the Director and/or the Authority, 

as deemed appropriate. 

 



 

7 

July 25, 2013 

 ARTICLE V 

 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR NEW PARTICIPANT LOANS 

 

Section 5.1. Application.  This Article V applies to Participant Loans made on or after the date 

of this Compliance Procedure. 

 

Section 5.2. Prior to Issuance of Participant Loan. 

 

(a) Intent Resolution.  Prior to or as a part of the Participant Loan authorization process, the 

Participant may adopt an Intent Resolution.  The Authority expects that Participants will usually adopt an 

Intent Resolution as part of their election call proceedings. 

 

(b) Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement.  For each Participant Loan, a Participant’s Tax 

Compliance Agreement, including covenants related to the Participant’s compliance with the post-issuance 

tax requirements, will be signed by the Participant Bond Compliance Officer or other duly authorized 

officer of the Participant.  The Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement will (1) describe the Project 

Facility and the anticipated Financed Facility, (2) for new money financings, require the Participant to 

complete a Final Written Allocation, and (3) contain a form of the Participant Annual Compliance Checklist 

for the Participant Loan.  The Participant Bond Compliance Officer is expected to confer with the Bond 

Compliance Officer and Bond Counsel or local bond counsel to the Participant regarding the meaning and 

scope of each representation and covenant contained in the Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement. 

 

(c) Participant Loans; Preliminary Cost Allocations.  The Participant Bond Compliance 

Officer in consultation with DNR, will prepare a preliminary cost allocation plan for the Project Facility to 

be funded from proceeds of a Participant Loan.  The preliminary cost allocation plan will identify the assets 

and expected costs for the Project Facility, and when necessary, will break-out the portions of Costs that 

are expected to be financed with proceeds of the Participant Loan and the portions, if any, expected to be 

financed from other sources. 

 

Section 5.3. Final Written Allocation of Participant Loan Proceeds.  The Participant’s Tax 

Compliance Agreement will include the Participant’s agreement that its file of all Requisitions and 

supporting invoices provided to DNR with respect to the use of Participant Loan proceeds constitutes the 

Participant’s Final Written Allocation of the application of proceeds of the Participant Loan to the Financed 

Facility.  In addition, the Bond Compliance Officer may access DNR’s compilation of Requisitions and 

supporting invoices to document the Participant’s Final Written Allocation absent receipt of documentation 

from the Participant.  The Participant may, with at least 60 days’ prior written notice to, and the written 

consent of DNR, deliver a revised written reimbursement allocation to DNR if the revised allocation is 

accompanied by an Opinion of Bond Counsel.  However, no revised reimbursement allocation will be made 

more than 18 months following the later of (A) the date of the expenditure or (B) the date the Financed 

Facility was Placed In Service, unless an Opinion of Bond Counsel is delivered to DNR and the Authority.  

For Participant Loans issued only to refund a prior Participant Loan, the Participant Bond Compliance 

Officer will work with the Bond Compliance Officer or Bond Counsel to prepare and/or document the Final 

Written Allocation for the Financed Facility financed by the refunded Participant Loan and include it as an 

attachment to the Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement or in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

Section 5.4. Participant Annual Compliance Checklists; Reviews. 

 

(a) Participant Annual Compliance Checklists.  The Participant Bond Compliance Officer will 

be responsible for assembling and maintaining the information necessary to accurately complete the 

Participant Annual Compliance Checklist.  Each Participant Bond Compliance Officer will be required to 



 

8 

July 25, 2013 

provide a completed Participant Annual Compliance Checklist, together with any supporting 

documentation, to the Director, Financial Assistance Center of DNR (and subsequently forwarded by the 

Director to the Bond Compliance Officer) or directly to the Authority.   

 

(b) Review of Participant Annual Compliance Checklist.  Each Participant Annual 

Compliance Checklist will be reviewed by legal counsel to the Participant or the Participant’s local bond 

counsel for sufficiency and compliance with the Participant’s Tax Compliance Agreement and this 

Compliance Procedure.  Following the completion of the review, the Participant Bond Compliance Officer 

will execute the Participant’s Annual Compliance Checklist. 

 

 ARTICLE VI 

 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR TAX-EXEMPT BONDS CURRENTLY OUTSTANDING 

 

Section 6.1. Tax-Exempt Bonds Covered by Article VI Procedures.  This Article VI applies 

to all Tax-Exempt Bonds issued prior to the date of this Compliance Procedure that are currently 

outstanding.  These Tax-Exempt Bonds are listed on Exhibit A. 

 

Section 6.2. Tax-Exempt Bond File; Annual Compliance Checklists.  As soon as practical, 

the Bond Compliance Officer will attempt to assemble as much of the Tax-Exempt Bond File as is available 

for the Tax-Exempt Bonds listed on Exhibit A.  As soon as practical, the Bond Compliance Officer will 

complete an Authority Annual Compliance Checklist for each outstanding Tax-Exempt Bond issue.  The 

Bond Compliance Officer will use reasonable efforts to obtain a completed Participant Annual Compliance 

Checklist from each Participant.  The Bond Compliance Officer will retain the completed Participant 

Annual Compliance Checklist and Authority Annual Compliance Checklist in the Tax-Exempt Bond File 

for the longer of the term of the Participant Loan or the Tax-Exempt Bond allocable to financing the 

Participant Loan (if any) plus three years.   

 

Section 6.3. Correcting Prior Deficiencies in Compliance.  In the event of a deficiency in 

compliance with the Tax Compliance Agreement for an outstanding Tax-Exempt Bond listed on Exhibit A, 

the Bond Compliance Officer will consult with Bond Counsel and, as necessary, follow the procedures 

described in the Regulations or the Tax-Exempt Bonds Voluntary Closing Agreement Program (VCAP) to 

remediate the noncompliance.  If remediation of the noncompliance requires the Authority to submit a 

request under VCAP, the Bond Compliance Officer will undertake this step only after reporting the 

violation to the Authority and obtaining its approval. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

 

COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE FOR NEW TAX-EXEMPT BONDS  

 

Section 7.1. Application.  This Article VII applies to Tax-Exempt Bonds issued on or after 

the date of this Compliance Procedure. 

 

Section 7.2. Prior to Issuance of Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

(a) Intent Resolution.  The Authority will authorize and approve the issuance of Tax-Exempt 

Bonds.  Prior to or as a part of the authorizing resolution, the Authority may adopt an Intent Resolution. 

 

(b) Directions to Bond Counsel.  The Bond Compliance Officer will provide a copy of this 

Compliance Procedure to Bond Counsel with directions for Bond Counsel to structure the documentation 

and procedural steps taken prior to issuing the Tax-Exempt Bonds so that they conform to the requirements 



 

9 

July 25, 2013 

of this Compliance Procedure, except to the extent Bond Counsel determines that different procedures are 

required.  The Bond Compliance Officer will consult with Bond Counsel so that  appropriate provisions are 

made to fund or reimburse the Authority’s costs and expenses incurred to implement this Compliance 

Procedure.  To the extent the Authority relies on or acts at the direction of the Participant, the Tax 

Compliance Agreement will contain appropriate provision for Authority indemnification by the Participant. 

 

(c) Tax Compliance Agreement.  For each Tax-Exempt Bond, the Authority will enter into a 

Tax Compliance Agreement including covenants related to compliance with the post-issuance tax 

requirements that will be signed by the Bond Compliance Officer or other duly authorized officer of the 

Authority.  The Tax Compliance Agreement will (1) identify the Participant Loans being financed with 

proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bond, (2) identify all Bond Restricted Funds and provide for arbitrage and 

rebate compliance, (3) for new money financings, assure each Participant is required to complete a Final 

Written Allocation, and (4) contain a form of the Authority Annual Compliance Checklist.  The Bond 

Compliance Officer will review the Authority’s Tax Compliance Agreement and, if deemed appropriate, 

confer with Bond Counsel and the Authority’s counsel regarding the meaning and scope of each 

representation and covenant contained in the Authority’s Tax Compliance Agreement.   

 

(d) Preliminary Cost Allocations.  For each Tax-Exempt Bond issuance, the Bond Compliance 

Officer will assure a preliminary cost allocation plan is prepared.  The preliminary cost allocation plan will 

identify the Participant Loans or portions thereof to be financed with proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds 

and the portions of the Participant Loans, if any, expected to be financed from other sources together with 

the proceeds expected to be used to finance costs of issuing or credit enhancement for the Tax-Exempt 

Bonds, including funding any reserve funds. 

 

(e) Tax Review with Bond Counsel.  Prior to the sale of Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Bond 

Compliance Officer and Bond Counsel will review this Compliance Procedure together with the draft Tax 

Compliance Agreement to ensure that any tax compliance issues in the new financing are adequately 

addressed by this Compliance Procedure and/or the Tax Compliance Agreement.  If Bond Counsel 

determines that this Compliance Procedure conflicts with the Tax Compliance Agreement, or must be 

supplemented to account for special issues or requirements for the Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Bond 

Compliance Officer will ask Bond Counsel to include the written modifications or additions in the final 

Tax Compliance Agreement.  The Bond Compliance Officer will request Bond Counsel to prepare a form 

of Authority Annual Compliance Checklist for use in monitoring the ongoing compliance requirements for 

the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

 

Section 7.3. Accounting and Recordkeeping.  The Bond Compliance Officer will assure the 

accounting for the investment and allocation of proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds is accomplished.  The 

Bond Compliance Officer may use accounts established pursuant to a trust indenture for the Tax-Exempt 

Bonds to assist it in accounting for the investment and expenditure of Tax-Exempt Bonds.  For Tax-Exempt 

Bonds that are issued to refund prior Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Tax Compliance Agreement will set out 

special accounting and allocation procedures for the proceeds of the financing, and if necessary proceeds 

of the refinanced Tax-Exempt Bonds. The Bond Compliance Officer will be responsible for assembling 

and maintaining the Tax-Exempt Bond File.   

 

Section 7.4. Final Allocation of Bond Proceeds. 

 

(a) Preparation of Final Written Allocation; Timing.  The Bond Compliance Officer will assure 

a written allocation of Tax-Exempt Bond proceeds to Participant Loans and other expenditures is prepared.  

This process will be memorialized in the Final Written Allocation.  For a new money financing, the Bond 

Compliance Officer will commence this process as of the earliest of (1) the requisition of all Participant 

Loan proceeds from any segregated Tax-Exempt Bond funded account, (2) the date the Project Facilities 



 

10 

July 25, 2013 

have been substantially completed or (3) four and one/half years following the issue date of the Tax-Exempt 

Bonds.  For Tax-Exempt Bonds issued only to refund a prior issue of Tax-Exempt Bonds, the Participant 

Bond Compliance Officer will work with the Participants and Bond Counsel to prepare and/or document 

the Final Written Allocation for the Financed Facility financed by the refunded Tax-Exempt Bonds and 

include it in the Tax Compliance Agreement. 

 

(b) Contents and Procedure.  The Bond Compliance Officer will consult the Tax Compliance 

Agreement and, if necessary, contact Bond Counsel to seek advice regarding any special allocation of Tax-

Exempt Bond proceeds and other money to Participant Loans and other expenditures.  If no special 

allocation is required or recommended, the Bond Compliance Officer will allocate proceeds of the Tax-

Exempt Bonds in accordance with the Authority’s accounting records.  Each Final Written Allocation will 

contain the following:  (1) a reconciliation of the actual sources and uses to fund Participant Loans, (2) the 

percentage of each Participant Loan financed with proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds and (3) any special 

procedures to be followed in completing the Authority Annual Compliance Checklist. 

 

(c) Finalize Authority Annual Compliance Checklist.  As part of the preparation of the Final 

Written Allocation, the Bond Compliance Officer will update the draft Authority Annual Compliance 

Checklist contained in the relevant Tax Compliance Agreement. The Bond Compliance Officer will include 

reminders for all subsequent arbitrage rebate computations required for the Tax-Exempt Bonds in the 

Authority Annual Compliance Checklist. 

 

(d) Review of Final Written Allocation and Authority Annual Compliance Checklist.  Each 

Final Written Allocation and Authority Annual Compliance Checklist will be reviewed by legal counsel to 

the Authority or Bond Counsel for sufficiency and compliance with the Tax Compliance Agreement and 

this Compliance Procedure.  Following the completion of the review, the Bond Compliance Officer will 

execute the Final Written Allocation. 

 

 ARTICLE VIII 

 

ONGOING MONITORING PROCEDURES 

 

Section 8.1. Annual Compliance Checklists.  Participant Annual Compliance Checklists and 

the Authority Annual Compliance Checklist are to be completed annually.  Each Participant Annual 

Compliance Checklist and Authority Annual Compliance Checklist will be designed and completed for the 

purpose of identifying potential noncompliance with the terms of the Participant’s Tax Compliance 

Agreement, the Authority’s Tax Compliance Agreement and this Compliance Procedure and obtaining 

documents (such as investment records, arbitrage calculations, or other documentation for the Financed 

Facility) that are required to be incorporated in the Tax-Exempt Bond File.  The Bond Compliance Officer 

will refer any responses indicating a violation of the terms of the Tax Compliance Agreement to legal 

counsel to the Authority and Bond Counsel and, if recommended by counsel, will follow the procedure set 

out in Section 6.3 to remediate the non-compliance. 

 

Section 8.2. Arbitrage and Rebate Compliance.  The Bond Compliance Officer will monitor 

the investment of Bond Restricted Funds and cause the Trustee to provide investment records to the Rebate 

Analyst on a timely basis. The Bond Compliance Officer will follow the directions of the Rebate Analyst 

with respect to the preparation of and the timing of rebate or yield reduction computations. 

 

ADOPTED BY THE AUTHORITY 

July 25, 2013 

 

 



 

A-1 

 

EXHIBIT A TO  

STATE REVOLVING FUNDS PROGRAMS TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

LIST OF TAX-EXEMPT BONDS  

COVERED BY THIS COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

(as of January 1, 2019) 

 

Series 

Dated 

Issued 

Final 

Maturity 

Date 

Original 

Principal 

Amount Description 

     

1998B  12/2/1998 1/1/2020 45,875,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

1999A  6/3/1999 1/1/2020 47,970,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

1999B  12/2/1999 7/1/2020 13,870,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2000A  4/12/2000 7/1/2021 52,640,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2000B  11/21/2000 7/1/2021 41,485,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2001A 4/18/2001 1/1/2022 13,930,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2001C  11/20/2001 7/1/2023 112,280,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2002A  5/8/2002 1/1/2023 29,545,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2002B  11/7/2002 7/1/2023 103,065,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2003A  1/30/2003 1/1/2024 88,915,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2003B  4/9/2003 1/1/2025 39,940,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs - Master 

Trust) 

2003C  11/20/2003 7/1/2025 27,895,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 



 

A-2 

Series 

Dated 

Issued 

Final 

Maturity 

Date 

Original 

Principal 

Amount Description 

2004A 3/23/2004 7/1/2021 77,625,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Refunding 

Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2004B  5/28/2004 1/1/2027 179,780,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2004C  12/9/2004 1/1/2026 39,895,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2005A  5/19/2005 7/1/2026 53,060,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2005C  11/30/2005 7/1/2027 85,210,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2006A  4/27/2006 7/1/2027 87,505,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2006B  11/16/2006 7/1/2027 22,105,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2007A  5/1/2007 1/1/2028 57,430,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2007B  11/15/2007 1/1/2029 56,720,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2008A  10/30/2008 1/1/2029 69,435,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2010A  2/17/2010 1/1/2024 205,420,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Refunding 

Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2010B  11/17/2010 7/1/2030 65,920,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2011A  11/30/2011 1/1/2025 106,830,000  

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Refunding 

Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2013A 11/26/2013 1/1/2027 101,535,000 

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Refunding 

Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2015A 2/5/2015 1/1/2036 29,935,000 

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2015B 12/22/2015 7/1/2030 136,105,000 

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Refunding 

Revenue Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

2018A 10/18/2018 7/1/2038 31,610,000 

Water Pollution Control and Drinking Water Revenue 

Bonds (State Revolving Funds Programs) 

 



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B TO  

STATE REVOLVING FUNDS PROGRAMS TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

SAMPLE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST 

(AUTHORITY) 
 

Name of tax-exempt bonds (“Bonds”):       

Issue Date of Bonds:       

Name of Bond Compliance Officer:       

Period covered by request (“Annual Period”):       

 

Item Question Response 

1 

Receipt of 

Participant 

Annual  

Compliance 

Checklists 

Has the Bond Compliance Officer received a completed Participant 

Annual Compliance Checklist from each Participant for the above 

referenced Tax-Exempt Bond issue for the Annual Period? 

 Yes 
 No 

 If the Bond Compliance Officer has not received a completed Participant 

Annual Compliance Checklist from a Participant, contact the applicable 

Participant and obtain a completed Participant Annual Compliance 

Checklist, review the Participant Annual Compliance Checklist for any 

responses which may raise a question regarding compliance with the 

Post-Issuance Tax Requirements and include a copy of the completed 

Participant Annual Compliance Checklist in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

If a response from any Participant raises a question regarding compliance 

with the Post-Issuance Tax Requirements, contact the Authority’s legal 

counsel or Bond Counsel and include description of resolution in the 

Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

2 

Participant 

Final 

Written 

Allocation 

 

 

For each Participant Project that has been Placed In Service, has a Final 

Written Allocation been completed for the Participant Project? 

 Yes 

 No 

If “Yes”, include a copy of the final Participant Requisition in the Tax-

Exempt Bond File. 

 

If “No”, contact DNR and the applicable Participant Bond Compliance 

Officer to prepare a Final Written Allocation for the Participant’s Project 

and include a copy of the final Participant Requisition in the Tax-Exempt 

Bond File. 

 

3 

Arbitrage 

& Rebate 

Have all rebate and yield reduction calculations mandated in the Tax 

Compliance Agreement been prepared for the current year? 

 Yes 

 No 

 If No, contact Rebate Analyst and incorporate report or include 

description of resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

 

Bond Compliance Officer: ____________________________ 

Date Completed: ____________________________



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C TO  

STATE REVOLVING FUNDS PROGRAMS TAX COMPLIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

SAMPLE ANNUAL COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST 

(PARTICIPANT) 
 

Name of Participant:  

Name of bonds (“Bonds”) financing the 

Financed Assets: 

 

Financed Assets: 

[NOTE:  insert Project as defined in Purchase 

Agreement unless modified during construction] 

 

 

      

Issue Date of Bonds:  

Placed in service date of the Financed Assets:       

Name of Participant Bond Compliance Officer:       

Period covered by request (“Annual Period”):  

 

Item Question 

 
Response 

1 

Ownership 

Were all of the Financed Assets owned by the Participant 

during the entire Annual Period? 

 

 Yes 

 No 

 If answer above was “No,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to the transfer? 

If Yes, include a copy of the Opinion in the Tax-Exempt Bond 

File. 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 

   

2 

Leases and 

Other Rights 

to Possession 

During the Annual Period, were any of the Financed Assets or 

any part of a Financed Asset leased at any time pursuant to a 

lease or similar agreement for more than 50 days (e.g., has the 

Participant entered into an agreement permitting a cell phone 

tower on a Bond-financed facility)? 

 Yes 

 No 

 If answer above was “Yes,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to entering into the lease or other arrangement?   

 

If Yes, include a copy of the Opinion in the Tax-Exempt Bond 

File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 

 Yes 

 No 

 

   



 

C-2 

Item Question 

 
Response 

3 

Management 

or Service 

Agreements 

During the Annual Period, has the Participant entered into an 

agreement with another entity to manage the operation of the 

Financed Assets?  (for example, does a private entity operate 

the System on behalf of the Participant) 

  

 Yes 

 No 

 

 If answer above was “Yes,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to entering into a management agreement?   

 

If Yes, include a copy of the Opinion in the Tax-Exempt Bond 

File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 

   

4 

Other Use 

Was any agreement entered into with an individual or entity 

that grants special legal rights to the Financed Asset (e.g., has 

the Participant entered into a take or pay contract or similar 

agreement related to output from the Financed Assets)?  

 

 Yes 

 No 

 If answer above was “Yes,” was an Opinion of Bond Counsel 

obtained prior to entering into the agreement?   

 

If Yes, include a copy of the Opinion in the Tax-Exempt Bond 

File. 

 

If No, contact Bond Counsel and include description of 

resolution in the Tax-Exempt Bond File. 

 Yes 

 No 

 

 

Participant Bond Compliance Officer:  ______________________________ 

Date:  ______________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 



GILMORE & BELL, P.C. 

DRAFT – AUGUST 31, 2019 

FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY 

 

 

__________________________ 

ESCROW TRUST AGREEMENT 

 

Dated as of September 1, 2019 

__________________________ 

 

 by and between the 

 

 

 CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

 

 and 

 

 

 UMB BANK, N.A., 

 as paying agent and escrow agent 

 

relating to 

 

NOT TO EXCEED $4,501,000 

COMBINED WATERWORKS AND SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS 

(STATE OF MISSOURI – DIRECT LOAN PROGRAM) 

SERIES 2019 

 

OF THE 

 

CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

 

 

 

 



 ESCROW TRUST AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS ESCROW TRUST AGREEMENT (this “Escrow Agreement”) is entered into as of 

September 1, 2019, between the CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI, a constitutional home rule city and 

political subdivision of the State of Missouri (the “Participant”), and UMB BANK, N.A., a national banking 

association duly organized, existing and authorized to accept and execute trusts of the character herein set 

out by virtue of the laws of the United States of America, as paying agent and escrow agent (the “Paying 

Agent”). Terms not otherwise defined in the Recitals or Section 1 of this Escrow Agreement have the 

meanings set forth in the below-defined Purchase Agreement. 

 

RECITALS 

 

 1. Pursuant to 10 CSR 20-4.040 through 10 CSR 20-4.041 and 10 CSR 20-4.050 of the Code 

of State Regulations, the Missouri Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”), in cooperation with the Clean 

Water Commission of the State of Missouri (the “Commission”), has developed and implemented the State 

of Missouri Direct Loan Program (the “Direct Loan Program”) and has stated its intent to make loans and 

grants to political subdivisions of the State of Missouri. 

 

 2. The Commission has approved a loan to the Participant to be made by DNR pursuant to the 

below-defined Purchase Agreement (the “Loan”). 

 

 3. DNR and the Participant have entered into a Purchase Agreement dated as of 

September 1, 2019 (the “Purchase Agreement”) for the purposes of providing financing for improvements to 

certain publicly owned wastewater treatment facilities (the “Project” as further described in the Purchase 

Agreement) and setting forth their covenants and agreements respecting the application of the net proceeds of 

the Loan to finance the Project and in satisfaction of the obligations of DNR under the Federal Act and EPA 

guidance to preserve The Water and Wastewater Loan Fund in perpetuity. 

 

4. The Loan will be evidenced by the Bonds of the Participant as further described in the 

Purchase Agreement. 

 5. As a condition to the execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement, DNR has required 

that the Participant enter into this Escrow Agreement with the Paying Agent. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

 Section 1. Definitions.  In addition to words and terms defined in the Recitals, elsewhere in 

this Escrow Agreement, in the Purchase Agreement and in the Ordinance, capitalized words and terms have 

the following meanings in this Escrow Agreement: 

 

 “Account” means any of the accounts established by Section 4. 

 

 “Administrative Expense Fund” means the Fund so designated and established by Section 4.  The 

Administrative Expense Fund does not constitute part of the Direct Loan Program. 

 

“Bonds” means the Combined Waterworks and Sewerage System Revenue Bonds (State of 

Missouri – Direct Loan Program) Series 2019, issued by the Participant pursuant to the Ordinance. 

 “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or any other day on which banking 

institutions in the State are either authorized or required to be closed. 

 



 

-2- 

 “Construction Fund” means the Fund so designated and established by Section 4. 

 

 “Debt Service Fund” means the Fund so designated and established by Section 4. 

 

 “Fund” means any of the funds established by Section 4. 

 

 “Interest Account” means the Interest Account established within the Repayment Fund. 

 

 “Paying Agent’s Fee” means (i) an initial one-time fee of $1,000 payable on the date of issuance 

of the Bonds, plus (ii) a semiannual fee of 0.015% of the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds as of 

the Closing Date and the Business Day preceding each Interest Payment Date (but not less than $525), for 

the Paying Agent’s fees and ordinary expenses (excluding any extraordinary fees and expenses), for services 

performed as paying agent and escrow agent under this Escrow Agreement and the Ordinance, as applicable.  

The amount described in clause (ii) is payable semiannually in arrears on each Interest Payment Date. 

 

 “Principal Account” means the Principal Account established within the Repayment Fund. 

 

 “Quarterly Payment” means each quarterly payment to be made by the Participant to the Paying 

Agent under Section 502(a)(2) of the Ordinance. 

 

 “Repayment Fund” means the Fund so designated and established by Section 4.  The Repayment 

Fund does not constitute part of the Direct Loan Program. 

 

 Section 2. DNR Actions.  All approvals, notices, consents and other actions of DNR under the 

Purchase Agreement (other than the execution of the Purchase Agreement and any amendments thereto) will 

be executed by the Director, Financial Assistance Center, Water Protection Program of DNR or any other 

person designated from time to time by the Director of DNR by a written instrument filed with the Participant 

and the Paying Agent. 

 

 Section 3. Receipt of Documents.  The Paying Agent hereby acknowledges receipt of a 

certified copy or executed counterpart of each of the Purchase Agreement and the Ordinance.  Reference or 

citation in this Escrow Agreement to any provisions of the Purchase Agreement or the Ordinance will 

incorporate the same as a part of this Escrow Agreement in the same manner and with the same effect as if 

they were fully set forth in this Escrow Agreement.  On the Closing Date, the Participant will cause the 

documents described in Section 3.1 of the Purchase Agreement to be delivered to the Paying Agent. 

 

 Section 4. Establishment of Funds and Accounts.  There are hereby created and established with 

the Paying Agent the following special and irrevocable separate trust funds and accounts, each of which will 

be held by the Paying Agent under this Escrow Agreement: 

 

  (a) the Debt Service Fund; 

 

  (b) the Construction Fund; 

 

  (c) the Repayment Fund, consisting of a Principal Account and an Interest Account; and 

 

  (d) the Administrative Expense Fund. 

 



 

-3- 

 Section 5. Deposits of Bond Proceeds. 

 

 (a) On the Closing Date, proceeds of the initial Purchase Price Installment in the amount of 

$72,506.00 will be deposited by the Paying Agent as follows: (i) $0.00 in the Construction Fund, and 

(ii) $72,506.00 in the Administrative Expense Fund. 

 

 (b) Upon receipt, all future Purchase Price Installments received from DNR pursuant to Section 

3.3 of the Purchase Agreement will be deposited in the Construction Fund. 

 

 Section 6. Debt Service Fund. 

 

 (a) There will be deposited in the Debt Service Fund moneys to be transferred from the 

Construction Fund and the Principal Account and the Interest Account of the Repayment Fund pursuant to 

Sections 7 and 8 on the dates and in the following order of priority: 

 

(1) First, on each Interest Payment Date, from the Construction Fund the investment 

earnings on moneys in the Construction Fund; 

 

(2) Second, on each Principal Payment Date, from the Principal Account of the 

Repayment Fund all moneys in the Principal Account to be applied solely to the payment of the 

principal component of the Bond Debt Service; and 

 

(3) Third, on each Interest Payment Date, to the extent moneys in the Debt Service Fund 

are not sufficient to pay the Bond Debt Service, from the Interest Account of the Repayment Fund an 

amount equal to such deficiency. 

 

 (b) Except as provided in (d) below, moneys on deposit in the Debt Service Fund will be applied 

solely to pay the Bond Debt Service as the same becomes due and payable.  On each date fixed for redemption 

of the Bonds, each Principal Payment Date and each Interest Payment Date, the Paying Agent will remit to 

the Owner an amount from the Debt Service Fund equal to the Bond Debt Service due and payable on such 

date. 

 

 (c) No later than the 15th day of the month after each Interest Payment Date, the Paying Agent 

will provide a written notice to the Participant of the amount remaining in the Debt Service Fund and the 

Interest Account of the Repayment Fund, which will constitute a credit against the Bond Payments in 

accordance with Section 502(a)(2)(A) of the Ordinance. 

 

 (d) Moneys remaining in the Debt Service Fund at the close of business on the date on which the 

Bonds are paid in full will be transferred to the Participant. 

 

 Section 7. Construction Fund. 

 

 (a) The Paying Agent will deposit in the Construction Fund the amount specified in 

Section 5(a)(i) and (b). 

 

 (b) Within two Business Days after the deposit of a Purchase Price Installment in the 

Construction Fund, the Paying Agent will make the Disbursement from the Construction Fund to the 

Participant. 

 

 (c) Investment earnings on moneys held in the Construction Fund will be deposited into the 

Construction Fund and then transferred to the Debt Service Fund pursuant to Section 6. 



 

-4- 

 

 (d) Investment earnings remaining in the Construction Fund on the Completion of Funding will 

be transferred to the Debt Service Fund. 

 

 Section 8. Repayment Fund. 

 

 (a) The Paying Agent will deposit (i) in the Principal Account of the Repayment Fund, the 

principal component of each Quarterly Payment and any other moneys received from the Participant for 

deposit in the Principal Account, and (ii) in the Interest Account of the Repayment Fund, the balance of the 

Quarterly Payment and any other moneys received from the Participant for deposit in the Interest Account. 

 

 (b) Moneys in the Repayment Fund will be disbursed at the times, in the amounts and in the 

priority, as follows: 

 

  (1) First, on each Principal Payment Date, from the Principal Account of the Repayment 

Fund to the Debt Service Fund, the amount calculated in accordance with Section 6(a)(2); 

 

  (2) Second, on each Interest Payment Date or date on which interest is payable as a result 

of a redemption of the Bonds, from the Interest Account of the Repayment Fund to the Debt Service 

Fund, the amount calculated in accordance with Section 6(a)(3); and 

 

  (3) Third, upon the payment in full of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, all 

moneys remaining on deposit in the Repayment Fund to the Participant in accordance with 

Section 4.3 of the Purchase Agreement. 

 

 (c) If the first transfer in accordance with clause (b)(1) above would not occur by the first 

anniversary of the Initiation of Operations, the Paying Agent, on the first day of the calendar month next 

preceding the first anniversary of the Initiation of Operations, will transfer from the Principal Account of the 

Repayment Fund to the Debt Service Fund an amount equal to one quarterly installment of principal paid 

under the Ordinance.  In addition, on the first day of the month that is not more than 20 years after the Initiation 

of Operations, all remaining amounts in the Principal Account of the Repayment Fund will be transferred to 

the Debt Service Fund. 

 

 Section 9. Administrative Expense Fund.  There will be deposited in the Administrative 

Expense Fund the amount set forth in Section 5(a)(ii) and such amounts as are received from the Participant 

for the payment of the Administrative Fee as provided in Section 502 of the Ordinance.  On the Closing Date, 

the Paying Agent will disburse from the Administrative Expense Fund the amounts to the payees as set forth 

in Schedule 1 to the Participant’s Closing Certificate delivered on the Closing Date.  The balance of the 

amount deposited pursuant to Section 5(a)(ii), the Master Trust Bonds Expense, will be transferred to the 

Master Trustee at the written direction of DNR or as DNR may otherwise direct in writing.  The Paying Agent 

will promptly disburse the Administrative Fee to DNR.   

 

 Section 10. Calculation of Interest on the Bonds Prior to Completion of Funding.  Prior to the 

Interest Payment Date following the Completion of Funding, the Paying Agent will make the calculations of 

the Quarterly Payments in accordance with the Ordinance pursuant to this Section.  For purposes of the first 

Quarterly Payment of each Interest Period, the Paying Agent will calculate an estimate of the amount of 

interest due on the next Interest Payment Date based upon an expected disbursement schedule for the 

Interest Period provided by the Participant to DNR and the Paying Agent.  If no expected schedule is 

provided, the Paying Agent will calculate an estimate of the interest due on the Interest Payment Date based 

upon Purchase Price Installments funded at least three Business Days prior to the first Quarterly Payment.  

For purposes of the second Quarterly Payment, the Paying Agent will calculate the interest due on the next 



 

-5- 

Interest Payment Date based upon Purchase Price Installments funded at least three Business Days prior to 

the second Quarterly Payment Date and the second Quarterly Payment will be calculated so that the amount 

on deposit in the Interest Account after receipt of the second Quarterly Payment will equal interest payable 

on the Bonds on the Interest Payment Date. 

 

 Section 11. Investments.  Moneys in the Construction Fund, the Debt Service Fund and the 

Repayment Fund will at all times be invested by the Paying Agent in Investment Securities at the written 

direction of the Participant, provided such Investment Securities will mature at such times and in such amounts 

as will make cash available for the purposes of such Funds and Accounts as needed.  Net investment earnings 

on the Accounts of each Fund will be credited to such Accounts except that investment earnings on the 

Principal Account of the Repayment Fund will be deposited in the Interest Account of the Repayment Fund.  

If an investment is purchased at a premium above par, net earnings on such investment will be deemed to 

exclude the amount paid that is more than the principal paid upon maturity or sale.  If an investment is 

purchased at a discount, net earnings are deemed to include the amount paid in excess of the discounted 

purchase price upon maturity or redemption of such investment, at the time such principal amount is received.  

The term “net earnings” means aggregate earnings less aggregate losses from investments during the 

applicable period, less any transaction fees incurred in purchasing or selling investments. 

 

 Section 12. Assignment of Moneys and Investment Securities.  The Participant assigns and 

pledges to the Paying Agent its right, title and interest in the moneys and Investment Securities hereunder, 

and all earnings thereon, until used and applied in accordance with this Escrow Agreement for the benefit and 

security of the Owner to secure (i) the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due, (ii) the 

payment of all sums due under this Escrow Agreement and the Purchase Agreement in the manner herein and 

therein described, and (iii) the punctual performance by the Participant of all of its obligations under the terms 

and provisions of this Escrow Agreement, the Ordinance and the Purchase Agreement. The matured principal 

of and earnings on the Investment Securities and any cash in the Funds and Accounts are hereby pledged and 

assigned and will be applied solely for the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and 

interest on the Bonds, except as otherwise expressly provided herein. 

 

 Section 13. Acceptance of the Trusts.  The Paying Agent accepts the duties and obligations 

imposed upon it by this Escrow Agreement, and agrees to perform the trusts but only upon and subject to the 

following express terms and conditions, and no implied covenants or obligations will be read into this Escrow 

Agreement against the Paying Agent: 

 

  (a) The Paying Agent undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are 

specifically set forth in this Escrow Agreement.  The Paying Agent will exercise such of the rights 

and powers vested in it by this Escrow Agreement and use the same degree of care and skill in their 

exercise as a prudent corporate trustee under reasonably similar circumstances would exercise or use 

under the circumstances. 

 

  (b) The Paying Agent may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform any 

of its duties by or through attorneys, agents, receivers, employees or such other professionals as may 

be reasonably necessary but will be answerable for the conduct of the same if not selected in 

accordance with the standard specified above, and will be entitled to act upon the opinion or advice 

of its counsel concerning all matters of trust hereof and the duties hereunder, and, subject to the 

provisions of Sections 6, 7 and 8, may in all cases pay such reasonable compensation to all such 

attorneys, agents, receivers, employees and such other professionals as may reasonably be employed 

in connection with the trusts hereof.  The Paying Agent may act or refrain from acting upon the advice 

or an opinion of counsel, who may be an employee of the Paying Agent, and will not be responsible 

for any loss or damage resulting from any action or non-action by it taken or omitted to be taken in 

good faith in reliance upon any such advice or opinion of counsel. 



 

-6- 

 

  (c) The Paying Agent will not be responsible for any recital herein or in the Ordinance 

or Purchase Agreement, or for the validity of the execution by the Participant of this Escrow 

Agreement or for any supplements hereto or instruments of further assurance, or for the sufficiency 

of the security for the Bonds, and the Paying Agent will not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the 

performance or observance of any covenants, conditions or agreements on the part of the Participant 

in connection with the matters referred to in this Escrow Agreement, except as hereinafter set forth, 

and the Paying Agent will not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection with any 

investment of funds made by it in accordance with this Escrow Agreement. 

 

  (d) The Paying Agent may engage in or be interested in any financial or other transaction 

with the Participant. 

 

  (e) The Paying Agent will be protected in acting upon any notice, request, consent, 

certificate, order, affidavit, opinion of counsel, letter, telegram or other paper or document reasonably 

believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or 

persons. 

 

  (f) As to the existence or non-existence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity of 

any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Paying Agent will be entitled to rely upon a certificate signed 

on behalf of the Participant by the Authorized Representative as sufficient evidence of the facts 

therein contained, and prior to the occurrence of a default of which the Paying Agent has been notified 

as provided in subsection (h) of this Section, or of which by said subsection it is deemed to have 

notice, the Paying Agent will also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the effect that any 

particular dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient, but may at its discretion secure 

such further evidence deemed necessary or advisable, but will in no case be bound to secure the same.  

The Paying Agent may accept a certificate of the Authorized Representative to the effect that an 

ordinance in the form therein set forth has been adopted by the Participant as conclusive evidence 

that such ordinance has been duly adopted and is in full force and effect. 

 

  (g) The permissive right of the Paying Agent to do things enumerated in this Escrow 

Agreement will not be construed as a duty and the Paying Agent will not, except as provided in 

subsection (a) of this Section, be answerable for other than its negligence or willful misconduct. 

 

  (h) The Paying Agent will not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of 

any default hereunder except failure by the Participant to cause to be made any of the payments to 

the Paying Agent required to be made by or on behalf of the Participant pursuant to this Escrow 

Agreement, the Ordinance or the Purchase Agreement unless the Paying Agent will be specifically 

notified in writing of such default by the Participant or DNR; and all notices or other instruments 

required by this Escrow Agreement to be delivered to the Paying Agent, must, in order to be effective, 

be delivered at the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent and in the absence of such 

notice so delivered the Paying Agent may conclusively assume there is no default except as aforesaid. 

 

  (i) At any and all reasonable times the Paying Agent, and its duly authorized agents, 

attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and representatives will have the right, but will not be 

required, to inspect all books, papers and records of the Participant pertaining to the Purchase 

Agreement and this Escrow Agreement, and to make copies thereof and take such memoranda 

therefrom and in regard thereto as may be desired. 

 

  (j) The Paying Agent will not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the 

execution of the trusts and powers under this Escrow Agreement. 



 

-7- 

 

  (k) Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in this Escrow Agreement contained, the 

Paying Agent will have the right, but will not be required, to demand, in respect to the withdrawal of 

any cash or any action whatsoever within the scope of this Escrow Agreement, any showings, 

certificates, opinions, appraisals or other information, or action or evidence thereof, in addition to that 

by the terms hereof required, as a condition of such action, deemed by the Paying Agent desirable for 

the purpose of establishing the right of the Participant to the withdrawal of any cash or the taking of 

any other action by the Paying Agent. 

 

  (l) Before taking any action under this Escrow Agreement other than any action under 

Sections 6, 7 and 8, the Paying Agent may, in its discretion, require that satisfactory indemnity be 

furnished to it by the Owner or other parties for the reimbursement of all expenses which it may incur 

or advance and to protect it against all liability, except liability which is adjudicated to have resulted 

from its negligence or willful misconduct, by reason of any action so taken. 

 

  (m) All moneys received by the Paying Agent shall, until used or applied or invested as 

herein provided, be held in trust in the manner and for the purposes for which they were received but 

need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by this Escrow Agreement or 

law.  The Paying Agent will not be under any liability for interest on any moneys received hereunder 

except such as may be agreed upon. 

 

 Section 14. Records; Reporting Requirements. 

 

 (a) The Paying Agent’s records related to activities performed under this Escrow Agreement are 

subject to audit and inspection by the State, the Comptroller General of the United States and the EPA in 

accordance with (i) the Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 

Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Grants Guidance) and (ii) 2 CFR Part 

200. The Paying Agent will maintain such financial transaction records in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

 (b) The Paying Agent will provide monthly and annual (as of June 30) financial reports to DNR, 

with a copy of each monthly financial report to the Participant.  Each financial report will cover financial 

activities during the preceding period.  These reports will consist of financial transaction registers.  Financial 

transaction register means a register of all financial transactions during the reporting period for each Fund and 

Account maintained under this Escrow Agreement.  Each financial transaction register will identify the Bonds 

and contain, for each Fund and Account, a date, description and amount for all financial transactions and 

starting and ending balances. 

 

 Section 15. Obligations of Paying Agent Limited.  In order to make the payments required by 

this Escrow Agreement, the Paying Agent is hereby authorized to redeem or otherwise dispose of Investment 

Securities in order to provide sufficient amounts to make such payments.  The liability of the Paying Agent 

to make the payments required by this Escrow Agreement will be limited solely to the money and Investment 

Securities in the Funds and Accounts hereunder.  The Paying Agent will not be liable for any loss resulting 

from any investment, sale, transfer or other disposition made pursuant to this Escrow Agreement in 

compliance with the provisions hereof.  The Paying Agent will not be liable for the accuracy of the calculations 

as to the sufficiency of the Quarterly Payments to make the Bond Debt Service.  So long as the Paying Agent 

applies the amounts in the Funds and Accounts as provided herein, the Paying Agent will not be liable for any 

deficiencies in the amounts necessary to pay the Bonds caused by such calculations.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the Paying Agent will not be relieved of liability arising from and proximate to its failure to comply 

fully with the terms of this Escrow Agreement. 

 



 

-8- 

 Section 16. Fees, Charges and Expenses of the Paying Agent. 

 

 (a) The Participant will pay to the Paying Agent reasonable compensation for all services 

performed by the Paying Agent under this Escrow Agreement, and also the reasonable expenses, charges and 

other disbursements of the Paying Agent, and those of its attorneys, agents, employees and other professionals 

as may be reasonably incurred in and about the administration and execution of the trusts hereby created and 

performance of its powers and duties hereunder; provided that the total amount of the fees and charges for the 

ordinary services of the Paying Agent under this Escrow Agreement will not exceed the Paying Agent’s Fees.  

Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section, the Paying Agent will be entitled to reimbursement 

from the Participant of its reasonable out-of-pocket, legal or extraordinary fees, charges and expenses incurred 

in carrying out the duties, terms or provisions of this Escrow Agreement including, but not limited to, costs 

incurred for giving notice of the redemption of the Bonds.  Claims for such reimbursement may be made to 

the Participant. 

 

 (b) Neither the Paying Agent nor any of its directors, officers or employees shall be liable to 

anyone for any action taken, or omitted to be taken, by it or any of its directors, officers or employees 

hereunder except in the case of negligence or willful misconduct.  The Participant hereby covenants and 

agrees, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify the Paying Agent and hold it harmless without limitation 

from and against any loss, liability or expense of any nature incurred by the Paying Agent arising out of or in 

connection with this Escrow Agreement or with the administration of its duties hereunder including, but not 

limited to, legal fees and expenses and other costs and expenses of defending or preparing to defend against 

any claim of liability in the premises, unless such loss, liability or expense shall be caused by the Paying 

Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. 

 

 Section 17. Resignation or Removal of Paying Agent; Successor Paying Agent. 

 

 (a) The Paying Agent at the time acting hereunder may at any time resign and be discharged 

from its duties and responsibilities hereby created by giving written notice by registered or certified mail to 

the Participant and the Owner not less than 60 days prior to the date when the resignation is to take effect.  

Such resignation will take effect immediately upon the acceptance by the Participant and the Owner of the 

resignation, the appointment of a successor Paying Agent (which may be a temporary Paying Agent) by the 

Participant, with the prior written consent of the Owner, the acceptance of such successor Paying Agent of 

the terms, covenants and conditions of this Escrow Agreement, the transfer of the Funds and Accounts 

hereunder, including the money and Investment Securities held therein, to such successor Paying Agent and 

the completion of any other actions required for the principal of and interest on the Investment Securities to 

be made payable to such successor Paying Agent rather than the resigning Paying Agent. 

 

 (b) The Paying Agent may be removed at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments 

in writing, signed by the Owner and delivered to the Paying Agent and the Participant.  The Paying Agent 

may also be removed by the Participant, with the prior written consent of the Owner, by an instrument or 

concurrent instruments in writing, signed by the Participant and delivered to the Paying Agent, if the Paying 

Agent fails to make timely payment on any Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date to DNR of the 

amounts required by Section 6 to be paid by it on such Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date or 

fails to perform its other duties or obligation hereunder.  Any removal pursuant to this paragraph will become 

effective upon the appointment of a successor Paying Agent (which may be a temporary successor Paying 

Agent) by the Participant, with the prior written consent by the Owner, the acceptance of such successor 

Paying Agent of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Escrow Agreement, the transfer of the Funds and 

Accounts hereunder, including the money and Investment Securities held therein, to such successor Paying 

Agent and the completion of any other actions required for the principal of and interest on the Investment 

Securities to be made payable to such successor Paying Agent rather than the Paying Agent being removed. 

 



 

-9- 

 (c) If the Paying Agent resigns or is removed, or is dissolved, or is in the course of dissolution 

or liquidation, or otherwise becomes incapable of acting hereunder, or if the Paying Agent is taken under the 

control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver appointed by a court, the Participant, with the prior 

written consent of the Owner, will appoint a temporary Paying Agent to fill such vacancy until a successor 

Paying Agent is appointed by the Participant, with the prior written consent of the Owner, in the manner above 

provided, and any such temporary Paying Agent so appointed by the Participant, with the prior written consent 

of the Owner, will immediately and without further act be superseded by the successor Paying Agent so 

appointed. 

 

 (d) If no appointment of a successor Paying Agent or a temporary successor Paying Agent has 

been made by DNR or the Participant, with the prior written consent of the Owner, pursuant to the foregoing 

provisions of this Section within 60 days after written notice of resignation of the Paying Agent has been 

given to the Participant and the Owner, the Owner or any retiring Paying Agent may apply to any court of 

competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Paying Agent, and such court may thereupon, after 

such notice, if any, as it deems proper, appoint a successor Paying Agent. 

 

 (e) No successor Paying Agent will be appointed unless such successor Paying Agent (i) is a 

corporation with trust powers authorized to do business in the State and organized under the banking or 

corporate laws of the United States of America or the State, (ii) either (A) has at the time of appointment 

capital and surplus of not less than $10,000,000, or (B) is owned by a company that has at the time of 

appointment capital and surplus of not less than $10,000,000, and (iii) has assets under corporate trust 

management of not less than $500,000,000. 

 

 (f) Every successor Paying Agent appointed under this Escrow Agreement will execute, 

acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and to the Participant and the Owner an instrument in writing 

accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor Paying Agent without any further act, 

deed or conveyance will become fully vested with all the rights, immunities, powers, trusts, duties and 

obligations of its predecessor, but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of such 

successor Paying Agent, the Participant or the Owner, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such 

successor Paying Agent all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts of such predecessor hereunder, 

and every predecessor Paying Agent will deliver all securities and money held by it to its successor.  Should 

any transfer, assignment or instrument in writing from the Participant be required by any predecessor or 

successor Paying Agent for more fully and certainly vesting in such successor Paying Agent the estates, rights, 

powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in the predecessor Paying Agent, any such transfer, 

assignment and instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the 

Participant. 

 

 (g) Any corporation into which the Paying Agent may be merged or consolidated, to which the 

Paying Agent sells all or substantially all of its corporate trust business, or that results from any merger, 

conversion, consolidation or reorganization involving the Paying Agent, will be the successor Paying Agent 

under this Escrow Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any other act on the part of the 

parties hereto. 

 

 Section 18. Amendment.  This Escrow Agreement is made for the benefit of the Participant and 

the Owner, and it will not be repealed, revoked, altered or amended without the written consent of the parties 

hereto and the Owner. 

 

 Section 19. Notices.  All notices, filings and other communications will be given by first-class 

mail, postage pre-paid, or delivered by a reputable private courier or overnight delivery service, addressed 

as follows; provided, however, that notice to the Paying Agent shall be effective only upon receipt: 

 



 

-10- 

 DNR: 

 

Missouri Department of Natural Resources 

Water Protection Program 

P.O. Box 176 (Zip Code 65102) 

1101 Riverside Drive 

Jefferson City, Missouri 65101 

Attention:  Director, Financial Assistance Center 

 

 Paying Agent: 

 

UMB Bank, N.A. 

2 South Broadway, Suite 600 

St. Louis, Missouri 63102 

Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

 

 Participant: 

 

City of Carthage, Missouri 

326 Grant Street 

Carthage, Missouri 64836 

Attention:  City Administrator 

 

 Each party may change its address by giving written notice of the new address to the other parties. 

 

 Section 20. Payments Due on Other Than Business Day.  If any Interest Payment Date, Principal 

Payment Date or other date for the payment of interest on or principal of the Bonds or any other payment is 

due hereunder is not a Business Day, then such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day 

with the same force and effect as if made on the scheduled date. 

 

 Section 21. Electronic Transactions.  The transactions described in this Escrow Agreement may 

be conducted and related documents may be sent, received or stored by electronic means.  Copies, 

telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be 

deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the 

filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law. 

 

 Section 22. Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any one or more of the covenants or agreements 

provided in this Escrow Agreement on the part of the Paying Agent or the Participant to be performed should 

be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants or agreement or agreements will be deemed severable 

from the remaining covenants and agreements and will in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of 

this Escrow Agreement. 

 

 Section 23. Execution in Counterparts.  This Escrow Agreement may be executed in any number 

of counterparts, each of which will be executed by the Paying Agent and the Participant and all of which will 

be regarded for all purposes as one original and will constitute and be but one and the same instrument. 

 

 Section 24. Survival.  This Escrow Agreement, including all representations, warranties, 

covenants and obligations, will remain in effect until the Paying Agent and the Participant have fully 

performed all of its obligations hereunder. 

 



 

-11- 

 Section 25. Applicable Law.  This Escrow Agreement will be governed exclusively by the 

applicable laws of the State. 

 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

 -12- 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be signed by their duly 

authorized officers or signatories and dated as of the day and year first above written. 

 

 

UMB BANK, N.A., as Paying Agent 

 

 

 

By    

Title: Vice President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[Carthage - Escrow Trust Agreement]  



 

 -13- 

 CITY OF CARTHAGE, MISSOURI 

 

 

 

  

Mayor 

(SEAL) 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[Carthage - Escrow Trust Agreement] 






























































